
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

March 05, 2024 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 
Meeting Chambers 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 
 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the February 20, 2024 work session and regular session 
minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate, the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda. 

1. [2024-086 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society 
for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals 

 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – March 05, 2024 

2. [2024-087 Grant Application] 

Consideration to approve submittal of a Grant Application to Firehouse Subs Public 
Safety Foundation 

3. [2024-088 Funding] 

Consideration to approve to ratify and affirm a Supplemental Funding Request from 
Atlas Technical Consultants 

X. Unfinished Business - Contains items held from a previous agenda. 

1. [2023-606 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading to amend Part II - Official Code, 
Chapter 42; Section 42-7 - Firearms of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances (1st 
reading approved 02/06/2023) 

XI. New Business 

1. [2024-089 Resolution] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-012 in celebration of Allen Burns' years of 
service with the Georgia Coastal Regional Commission 

2. [2024-090 Ordinance] Samantha Eason 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code, Chapter 70 - Taxation, Article II - Business Licenses and Occupation Tax of the 
Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

3. [2024-091 Ordinance] Samantha Eason 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code, Appendix C - Zoning Ordinance, Article IX. - Amendments to Map or Text, 
Section 9.2.3 - Sketch Plan of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

4. [2024-092 Ordinance] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code, Appendix C - Article V - Table of Permitted Uses of the Effingham County Code of 
Ordinances 

5. [2024-093 Ordinance] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance to amend Chapter 62 of the 
Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

6. [2024-094 Proposal] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Proposal from Pond & Company for the Blue Jay Road 
Corridor Study and Concept Design 

7. [2024-095 Proposal] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Proposal of additional services request from Alliance 
Consulting Engineers for the Courthouse Road Realignment Design Project 

 

 

 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – March 05, 2024 

8. [2024-096 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order 3 for McWright LLC for Contract 23-ITB-031 
related to the renovation/expansion of the EMS headquarters and 
construction/renovation of the Prison Maintenance building 

9. [2024-097 Proposal] 

Consideration to approve a Proposal from Inspire Placemaking Collective, Inc. for a 
Corridor Design Standard 

10. [2024-098 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Change Order #1 for Platinum Paving and Concrete LLC for 
the FY23/24 LMIG Construction Project 

11. [2024-099 Contract] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Contract 23-ITB-040 with McWright LLC for the construction 
of the Administrative Building Expansion/Renovation 

12. [2024-100 Proposal] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Proposal from Raftelis for a Rate and Financial Planning 
Study 

13. [2024-101 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-013 to amend the Fiscal Year 2024 Budget 

14. [2024-102 Agreement] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Cities of 
Guyton, Rincon and Springfield regarding TSPLOST Bonds collection, distribution, and 
management. 

15. [2024-103 Annexation] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to acknowledge a Petition of Annexation as submitted by the City of 
Springfield for properties consisting of approximately 65.70 acres located at Webb and 
McCall Roads Map# 389 Parcel# 23 and Map# 390 Parcel# 18B, 20 

16. [2024-104 Form] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve to identify a Voting Delegate for consideration of the three (3) 
remaining seats for Statewide Georgia Opioid Settlement Advisory Commission (GOSAC) 
Members and Regional Advisory Council (RAC)members  

17. [2024-105 Resolution] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-014 adopting the Fiscal Year 2023 Capital 
Improvement Element (CIE) annual update  

XII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIV. Executive Session Minutes - Consideration to approve the February 20, 2024 executive 
session minutes 

XV. Planning Board - 6:00 pm 

 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – March 05, 2024 

1. [2024-106 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Theodore Carellas as 
agent  for Effingham County Industrial Development Authority to rezone 3.97 acres 
located on Interstate 16 from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the integration into an industrial 
park. Map# 331 Parcel# 5A, 4, 3, 13A & 14A in the First District 

2. [2024-107 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Theodore 
Carellas as agent for Effingham County Industrial Development 
Authority to rezone 3.97 acres located on Interstate 16 from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for 
the integration into an industrial park. Map# 331 Parcel# 5A, 4, 3, 13A & 14A in the 
First District 

3. [2024-108 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Robert McCorkle, III as 
agent for Mark G. and Mary D. and Et al to rezone 40 of 280.5 acres located on Old 
River Road from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. Map# 304 Parcel# 
10 in the First District 

4. [2024-109 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Robert McCorkle, 
III as agent for Mark G. and Mary D. Cooper and Et al to rezone 40 of 280.5 acres 
located on Old River Road from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and 
logistics. Map# 304 Parcel# 10 in the First District 

5. [2024-110 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommend approving an application by Rebecca Tucker as agent 
for Farris Floyd to rezone 2 of 7 acres located on Low Ground Road from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for a new home site. Map# 350 Parcel# 3C in the First District 

6. [2024-111 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Rebecca Tucker as 
agent for Farris Floyd to rezone 2 of 7 acres located on Low Ground Road from AR-1 
to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. Map# 350 Parcel# 3C in the First District 

7. [2024-112 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by James Dasher as agent 
for Lain Nolan Earl Jr. to rezone 185 acres located at 311 Earl Lain Road from AR-1 
to R-5 to allow for a residential development. Map# 435 Parcel# 19 in the Second 
District 

8. [2024-113 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by James Dasher as agent 
for Lain Nolan Earl Jr. to rezone 185 acres located at 311 Earl Lain Road from AR-1 
to R-5 to allow for a residential development. Map# 435 Parcel# 19 in the Second 
District 

9. [2024-114 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Kevin Forbes as agent 
for T&T Exley Properties/ Thomas and Hutton Engineering Co. to rezone 1051 

4



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – March 05, 2024 

acres located on Highway 21 from PD to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned 
Development. Map# 446D Parcel# 6, 9, & 11 in the Second District 

10. [2024-115 Second Reading]  

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Kevin Forbes as 
agent for T&T Exley Properties/ Thomas and Hutton Engineering 
Co. to rezone 1051 acres located on Highway 21 from PD to PD to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development. Map# 446D Parcel# 6, 9, & 11 in the Second 
District 

11. [2024-116 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommend approving an application by William 
Schaffner to rezone 2 of 8.16 acres located at 165 Briarwood Court from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites. Map# 398C Parcel# 11 in the 
Second District 

12. [2024-117 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by William 
Schaffner to rezone 2 of 8.16 acres located at 165 Briarwood Court from AR-1 to 
AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites. Map# 398C Parcel# 11 in 
the Second District 

13. [2024-118 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommend approving an application by Penny West to rezone 5 
acres located at 3768 Old Dixie Highway South from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new 
home sites. Map# 339 Parcel# 6 in the Third District 

14. [2024-119 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application 
by Penny West to rezone 5 acres located at 3768 Old Dixie Highway South from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. Map# 339 Parcel# 6 in the Third District 

15. [2024-120 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommend approving an application by Samuel 
Bradford to rezone 5 acres located at 800 Savannah Town Road from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for new home sites. Map# 246 Parcel# 11A in the Third District 

16. [2024-121 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Samuel 
Bradford to rezone 5 acres located at 800 Savannah Town Road from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for new home sites. Map# 246 Parcel# 11A in the Third District 

XVI. Adjournment 

5



Staff Report 

 

Subject: Consideration to allow the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society for the 

Prevention of Cruelty to Animals to continue. 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent, Lorna Shelton, Shelter Director 

Department: Purchasing and Animal Shelter 

Meeting Date: 03-5-2024 

Item Description: Mutual Aid Agreement Renewal with ASPCA 

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval to renew 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County has an agreement in place with the ASPCA to facilitate the identification and 
coordination of assistance and animal rescue efforts. The parties’ objective is to maximize 
the welfare of animals and their care-takers before, during, and after a major incident, and to 
minimize the loss of life and animal suffering that might occur following such an incident. 
The agreement runs from 4 April 2017 until 4 April 2022, after which there is an automatic 
renewal for a period of 5 years. 

 In the event of an emergency this agreement will allow the county to request assistance 
from the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (ASPCA). 

 The ASPCA will provide assistance with temporary animal sheltering if an evacuation of our 
facility becomes necessary. 

 Each party shall be responsible for all of its own costs associated with providing assistance 
unless previously agreed upon arrangements have been made. 

 ASPCA personnel and equipment will be, to the greatest extent possible, self-sufficient for 
operations in areas stricken by disasters or emergencies, including animal cruelty events. 

 Each party will be responsible for providing its own insurance coverage. 

 The agreement runs from 04-04-17 until 04-04-22, with an automatic renewal for a period of 
5 years unless terminated with 15 days written notice by either party at any time.  

 The agreement has previously been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval to allow the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society for the 
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals to continue. 

2. Cancel the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to 
Animals by giving 15 days written notice. 

  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Animal Shelter 

Funding Source: As needed in emergency situations only 

Attachments: Mutual Aid Agreement. 

6

Item IX. 1.



7

Item IX. 1.



8

Item IX. 1.



9

Item IX. 1.



10

Item IX. 1.



11

Item IX. 1.



12

Item IX. 1.



13

Item IX. 1.



14

Item IX. 1.



15

Item IX. 1.



16

Item IX. 1.



17

Item IX. 1.



18

Item IX. 1.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
5 YEARS FROM EFFECTIVE DATE OF 04-04-17 - EXPIRES 04-04-2022.CAN RENEW 04-04-22 FOR 5 YEARS - EXPIRES 04-04-2027.



19

Item IX. 1.



20

Item IX. 1.



21

Item IX. 1.



22

Item IX. 1.



23

Item IX. 1.



24

Item IX. 1.



25

Item IX. 1.



26

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 
 

Subject:    Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation Grant 

Author: Kathy Candler, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes, 

Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 3/5/2024  

Item Description: Consideration to submit a grant application to Firehouse Subs 

Public Safety Foundation. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is recommends approval to submit a grant application to Firehouse Subs Public 

Safety Foundation. 

 

Executive Summary: 

Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation was founded in 2005 in the aftermath of 

Hurricane Katrina. Firehouse Subs founders, Chris Sorensen and Robin Sorensen, 

traveled to Mississippi where they fed first responders as well as survivors. As they 

traveled back to Florida exhausted and exhilarated, they knew more was needed and 

the Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation was born. Chris and Robin are generous 

visionaries and the Foundation’s largest individual donors, and, as members of the 

Foundation's board of directors, they approve donations for lifesaving equipment and 

funding for first responders every quarter. They continue to advance the Foundation's 

mission and have awarded millions of dollars’ worth of lifesaving equipment and 

resources to fire, police, and public safety organizations across the country.   

 

Effingham County Fire Rescue is experiencing an increase in demand for service, which 

has increased the demand for training of personnel. These funds will be used to 

purchase a Smoke Generator and four Smart-Dummy Rescue Manikins for more 

intense training and to ensure our citizens are provided with the best response possible.  

 

Background: 

1. The grant process is competitive. 
2. There is no cost share requirement, and the equipment estimate is as follows: 

Item Item Cost Quantity Total 

10178557 MSA 10178557 Altair 4XR Multigas Detector, (LEL, 
O2, H2S & CO), Charcoal Case, North American Charger 

$860.31 15 $12,904.65 

MSA-4XKIT MSA Galaxy GX2 Altair 4X and 4XR Automated 
Gas Detector Complete Test System 

$4157.01 1 $4157.01 

ISP20   (-) $20.00 

GRAND TOTAL  $   17,041.66 

  

27

Item IX. 2.



3. Application deadline is May 4, 2024. 
 

Alternatives for the Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to submission of a grant application to Firehouse Subs Public Safety 
Foundation.  

2. Do not approve to submission of a grant application to Firehouse Subs Public 
Safety Foundation. 

3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to submit a grant application to 

Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Effingham County Fire Rescue 

 

Funding Source: 

There is no cost share requirement. 

 

Attachments: 

1. Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation Grant Application Information 
2. Fire Rescue Equipment quote 

 

 

 

 

28

Item IX. 2.



1

(305) 631-2780              www.industrialsafetyproducts.com

Sub Total 17,061.66

ISP20 (-) 20.00

Total $17,041.66

Quote Date : 02/16/2024

Expiry Date : 05/15/2024

Payment Terms : COD

Estimate
Quote# SQ-27322

Bill To 
Effingham Co. Fire Rescue & EMA
Hannah R. Jenkins
804 S. Laurel St
Springfield, Georgia 31329
U.S.A
(912) 754-8888

 Ship To
Effingham Co. Fire Rescue & 
EMA
Hannah R. Jenkins
804 S. Laurel St
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
(912) 754-8888

# Item & Description Qty Rate Amount

1 10178557
MSA 10178557 Altair 4XR Multigas Detector, (LEL, O2, 
H2S & CO), Charcoal Case, North American Charger

15
Each

860.31 12,904.65

2 MSA-4XKIT
MSA Galaxy GX2 Altair 4X and 4XR Automated Gas 
Detector Complete Test System

1 4,157.01 4,157.01

Looking forward to your business.

Terms & Conditions

Sales rep: Jhon Anderson Betancur ext 103
Free shipping applied
Special bulk disocunt appied as courtesy for both lines
Additional courtesy discount $20 off applied

29

Item IX. 2.



30

Item IX. 2.



31

Item IX. 2.



32

Item IX. 2.



33

Item IX. 2.



34

Item IX. 2.



35

Item IX. 2.



36

Item IX. 2.



37

Item IX. 2.



38

Item IX. 2.



39

Item IX. 2.



40

Item IX. 2.



41

Item IX. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject: Ratification of Approval of a Supplemental Funding Request from Atlas 

Technical Consultants 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works/Engineer 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Supplemental Funding Request from Atlas Technical Consultants 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends ratification of approval for the 

Supplemental Funding Request from Atlas Technical Consultants 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Atlas submitted this request related to the post design services phase for the 

Effingham Parkway project. This request is due to the additional work related to 

the two legs of the roundabout at Gateway Park and Effingham Parkway based 

on conversations with the GDOT team. Atlas will also handle the preparation of 

the Use on Construction (UOC) revisions and provide coordination support with 

Effingham County and BROE.  

 This will be a reimbursable expense between Effingham County and BROE. The 

total cost for the request is $19,600.00. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of a Supplemental Funding Request from Atlas Technical Consultants 

in the amount of $19,600.00 

2. Take no action.  

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Engineer, Procurement/Capital Projects 

Funding Source: TSPLOST/SPLOST 

Attachments: Supplemental Funding Request 

 

 

 

 

42

Item IX. 3.



 

 

 

2450 COMMERCE AVENUE, SUITE 100, DULUTH, GA 30096-8910 
770.263.5945 | F 770.263.0166 | maai.net 

 

 

February 20, 2024 

 

Mr. Wesley Corbitt 

Chairman 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

601 N. Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

Re: Supplemental Funding Request for Work under EFF008 Work Order # 06 

 Effingham Parkway, Effingham County, P.I. 0006700 

Design of east-west legs of Gateway Parkway/Effingham Parkway Roundabout and Use on Construction 

plans 

 

Dear Chairman, Corbitt- 
 

Please consider this letter as Atlas Technical Consultants (Atlas) request for supplemental funding related to the 

Post Design services phase for the Effingham Parkway project in Effingham County under the EFF008 Work 

Order # 06.  These costs will be considered as reimbursable under the existing Agreement for PE costs between 

Effingham County and BROE. This request is due to the additional work related to the addition of two legs of the 

roundabout that needed design and use on construction revisions along with the revised right-of-way plan sheet 

at Gateway Parkway and Effingham Parkway.   

 

The work to be performed in the area of roadway design will be utilized in the preparation of Use On Construction 

(UOC) mainline plan changes so GDOT’s contractor can build the Effingham Parkway to be consistent with these 

plan changes.  Atlas will work with Effingham County and GDOT to handle these plan changes and the necessary 

documentation to obtain GDOT approval of plans.   

 

The additional tasks are listed below with a brief explanation: 

 

Additional work to prepare UOC Plans ($19,600) 

✓ Summarize Revisions               

✓ Revise Typical Sections 

✓ Revise Quantities 

✓ Revise Layout Plans 

✓ Revise Construction Plan Sheets 

✓ Revise / Add Profiles 

✓ Revise / Add Cross Section Sheets 

✓ Revise Drainage near Roundabout edges 

✓ Revise Utility Plans 

✓ Revise Signing and Marking Plans 

✓ Coordinate Lighting Plan Revisions with Sub 

✓ Revise Water / Sewer plans (44-series) 

43

Item IX. 3.



 

Engineering, Planning, Architecture, Land Acquisition, Surveying, Geotechnical, Environmental 

✓ Revise Erosion Control Plans 

✓ Make Right of Way Revision for areas to be quit claimed by Effingham County 

✓ QA-QC 

✓ Issue UOC Revision 

 

We have enjoyed working for Effingham County and look forward to the successful completion of these time 

sensitive Use on Construction Plans with the approval of this supplemental funding request in the amount of 

$19,600.  If there are any questions concerning this information, or if any additional information is needed, please 

do not hesitate to contact me at 678-728-9064 or on my cell at 404-931-3792. 

 

Sincerely, 
 
 

L. N. Manchi, P.E., PMP 
Project Manager 
 
cc: Tim Callanan, Effingham County Manager 
 Alison Bruton, Effingham County Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 
 Jonathan Hulme, Effingham County Engineer 

44

Item IX. 3.



Effingham County

Effingham Pkwy / Gateway Pkwy Roundabout

Detailed Description of

Estimated Project Costs

Phase:  POST 21-Feb-24

Phase No.  N/A

Atlas Technical Consultants

1.  Direct Labor (Specify)

Personnel Est Hours Rate/Hr Est. Cost ($) Totals

SURVEY UPDATE

Project Manager $250.00

Survey Proj. Manager (RLS) $150.00

Survey Technician $85.00

Survey Crew (2 Man) $120.00

TOTAL

ROADWAY DESIGN

Project Manager 34 $250.00 $8,500.00

Highway Group Manager 3 $250.00 $750.00

Sr. Roadway Engineer 32 $130.00 $4,160.00

Roadway Engineer 54 $100.00 $5,400.00

Roadway Technician / CAD $80.00

Sr. Environmental Planner $155.00

Environmental Planner $100.00

TOTAL 123 $18,810.00

R/W PLANS

Project Manager $250.00

Highway Group Manager $250.00

Sr. Roadway Engineer 3 $130.00 $390.00

Roadway Engineer 4 $100.00 $400.00

TOTAL 7 $790.00

Total Direct Labor $19,600.00

2.  Other Direct Costs (Specify)

    Plotting/Reproduction

    Travel/Mileage

Lodging/Meals

Total Other Direct Costs

3. Maximum Amount of Contract Proposal (1) + (2) $19,600.00

45

Item IX. 3.



Effingham County

Effingham Pkwy / Gateway Pkwy Roundabout

21-Feb-24

MAN-HOUR ESTIMATE

ADMIN ROADWAY ENVIRONMENTAL SURVEYING

Task Description P
ri

n
c
ip

a
l

P
ro

je
c
t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
r

A
d

m
in

 A
s
s
is

ta
n

t

H
ig

h
w

a
y
 G

ro
u

p
 M

g
r

S
r.

 R
o

a
d

w
a

y
 E

n
g

in
e

e
r

R
o

a
d

w
a

y
 E

n
g

in
e

e
r

R
o

a
d

w
a

y
 T

e
c
h

. 
/ 
C

A
D

S
r.

 E
n

v
. 
P

la
n

n
e

r

E
n

v
. 
P

la
n

n
e

r

E
n

v
. 
T

e
c
h

n
ic

ia
n

S
u

rv
e

y
 P

ro
j.
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r

S
u

rv
e

y
 T

e
c
h

n
ic

ia
n

S
u

rv
e

y
 C

re
w

 (
2

 M
a

n
)

ROADWAY DESIGN

Project Management

    Project Management / Administration 4

    Coordination Meetings (24) 24

    Coord. with Gateway Conn. Project 4

    Utility Coordination 2

Road Design

    Fastest Path Analysis

    Typical Sections 4 8

    Geometric Design (Plan, Prof, Xsec) 8 16

    Update Staging Plans

    Utility Plans (inc. conflict review) 2 4

Drainage Design / Hydrology

    Roadway Drainage Design 2 4

    Drainage Profiles 2 6

Erosion Control

    BMP Plan Update

UOC Revision
46

Item IX. 3.



Effingham County

Effingham Pkwy / Gateway Pkwy Roundabout

21-Feb-24

MAN-HOUR ESTIMATE

ADMIN ROADWAY ENVIRONMENTAL SURVEYING

Task Description P
ri

n
c
ip

a
l

P
ro

je
c
t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
r

A
d

m
in

 A
s
s
is

ta
n

t

H
ig

h
w

a
y
 G

ro
u

p
 M

g
r

S
r.

 R
o

a
d

w
a

y
 E

n
g

in
e

e
r

R
o

a
d

w
a

y
 E

n
g

in
e

e
r

R
o

a
d

w
a

y
 T

e
c
h

. 
/ 
C

A
D

S
r.

 E
n

v
. 
P

la
n

n
e

r

E
n

v
. 
P

la
n

n
e

r

E
n

v
. 
T

e
c
h

n
ic

ia
n

S
u

rv
e

y
 P

ro
j.
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r

S
u

rv
e

y
 T

e
c
h

n
ic

ia
n

S
u

rv
e

y
 C

re
w

 (
2

 M
a

n
)

    Plan Prep 4 8

    Quantities Req'd on Construction 2 4

    Revision Summary 2 4

Plan Reviews

    Quality Assurance Review 2 2

    Address Comments (GDOT & Internal) 1 4

TOTALS 34 3 32 54

R/W PLANS

Plan Development

    R/W Plan Revision (1 large parcel) 2 4

    Quality Assurance Review 1

TOTALS 3 4

GRAND TOTALS 34 3 35 58

47

Item IX. 3.



Staff Report 

Subject: 

Author: 

 

 
Ordinance Revision 

Steve Candler 

Department: Development Services 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration of an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II; Chapter 42 

Offenses 42-7 - Firearms 

 

Summary Recommendation 
The county commissioners recommended a change to the county firearms ordinance. 

The proposed amendment was assigned to the Development Services Department 

for research and suggested changes. 

The text for most of this ordinance amendment is from the state model provided 

by the Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 

Adding the state definitions of terms for the ordinance. 
 

 

Executive Summary/Background 
• The significant changes to the ordinance are the reduction of the yardage around dwellings from 300 

yards to 75 yards. 

• Most of the ordinance is the model ordinance provided by the Department of Natural Resources. 

• The addition of the state requirement about discharging a firearm near a public highway. 
 

 

Alternatives 
Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II; Chapter 42 Offenses 42-7 - Firearms. 

Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II; Chapter 42 Offenses 42-7 -Firearms. 

Recommended Alternative: 1 Other Alternatives: 2 

 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney FUNDING:  NIA 

 
Attachments: 1. Draft of Firearms ordinance amendment; Firearms Ordinance - Section 42.-7 

2. GA State Code 16-11-103 

48

Item X. 1.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

 AMENDMENT TO PART II, CHAPTER 42 

 OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II, CHAPTER 42 OF THE EFFINGHAM 

COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular 

meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof: 
  

Section 42-7 is in Part II Official Code; Chapter 42 Offenses as follows: 

42-7 Firearms 

1.  As used in this Code section, the term: 

 
a) "Firearm" means any handgun, rifle, or shotgun. 

b) Vacant 

c) "Public highway" means every public street, road, and highway in this state. 

d) Vacant 

e) "Sport shooting range" means an area designated and operated by a person or entity 
for the sport shooting of firearms, target practice, trapshooting , skeet shooting, or 
shooting sporting clays and not available for such use by the general public without 
payment of a fee, membership contribution, or dues or without the invitation of an 
authorized person, or any area so designated and operated by a unit of government, 
regardless of the terms of admission thereto. 

f) Vacant 

g) "Unit of government" means any of the departments, agencies, authorities, or political 
subdivisions of the state, cities, municipal corporations, townships, or villages and any 
of their respective departments, agencies, or authorities. 

 
2. It shall be unlawful for any person in Effingham County to discharge or shoot any 

firearms which project lead or any other missile as follows: 

 
a) into a dwelling, house, railroad train, boat, aircraft, motor vehicle, or any building 

or structure used for assembling of people; or 

 
b) within seventy-five (75) yards of any occupied building or upon the land of 

another or across the property line of another without first obtaining written 

permission of such property owner(s), · or 

 
c) at a mark, at any inanimate object, or at random, on, along or across a public 

highway; or 

 
d) at or from any motor vehicle, at any person, at any other motor vehicle, or at any 

building or habitable structure. 

 

e) it shall be unlawful for any person, without legal justification, to discharge a 

firearm on or within 50 yards of a public highway. 

49

Item X. 1.



3. Section 42-7 shall not apply to or affect any of the following: 

 

All federal, military, state, county, and municipal law enforcement peace officers possessing 

the duty and power of arrest whether such officers are within or outside their jurisdictions or 

on or off duty, or any person summoned by such officers to assist in making arrests or 

preserving the peace while actually engaged in assisting such officer, or any other person 

otherwise authorized by Georgia statute; or 

 
a) Any person lawfully exercising the destruction of dangerous animals, or for 

lawful nuisance wildlife abatement by persons properly permitted by the 

Georgia Department of Natural Resources, or in the lawful exercise of 

trapping by properly licensed trappers; or 

 

b) In connection with the discharge of blank cartridges for theatrical purposes or for 

signal purposes in athletic or spo1iing events, military exercises, funerals, 

reviews, or memorial events; or 

 
c) Any citizen when lawfully defending person or property; or 

 
d) Any citizen or legal entity engaged in the lawful use or legal nonconforming use 

under any zoning ordinance at any private or commercial sport shooting range. 

 
1. For the purposes of this section a "sport shooting range" means an 

area designed and operated for the use and discharge of guns, air guns, BB 

guns, pistols, or other firearms, which project lead or any other missile that 

received prior approval from Effingham County to operate. 

 

4. It  shall be unlawful for any person to discharge a firearm while: 

 
a) Under the influence of alcohol or any drug or any combination of alcohol and 

any drug to the extent that it is unsafe for the person to discharge such firearm 

except in defense of life, health, and property; 

 
b) The person's alcohol concentration is 0.08 grams or more at any time while 

discharging such firearm or within three (3) hours after such discharge of 

such firearm from alcohol consumed before such discharge ended; or 

 
c) Subject to the provisions of subsection (3) of this Code section, there is any 

amount of marijuana, or a controlled substance as defined in O.C.G.A. §16-13-

21, present in the person 's blood or urine, or both, including the metabolites and 

derivatives of each or both without regard to whether or not any alcohol is 

present in the person's breath or blood. 

 
5. The fact that any person charged with violating this section is or has been legally entitled 

to use a drug shall not constitute a defense against any charge of violating this section; 

provided, however , that such person shall not be in violation of this subsection unless 

such person is rendered incapable of possessing or discharging a firearm safely as a 

result of using a drug other than alcohol which such person is legally entitled to use. 

 
6. Any person convicted of violating subsection (3) of this section shall be guilty of 

a misdemeanor of a high and aggravated nature. 

50

Item X. 1.



 

 

 

 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 This         day of                            20__. 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

        FIRST READING: _________________ 
 

BY: ______________________________  SECOND READING: _______________ 

CHAIRMAN 
 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY CLERK 

51

Item X. 1.



 

Staff Report 
Subject:   Allen Burns Resolution 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: 03/05//2024 

Item Description: Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-012 in celebration of Allen Burns’ 

years of service with the Georgia Coastal Regional Commission 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

Mr. Allen Burns has been a public servant with the Georgia Coastal Regional Commission (CRC) for 

16 years and has served his community well.  Staff stands in full support of approving this resolution 

noting some of his many achievements.  
 

Executive Summary: 

1. It is the policy of the Board of Commissioners to acknowledge and celebrate those who are making 
a positive impact in our community.  

2. This resolution represents the Board and Staff’s appreciation of Mr. Burns and his tireless 
dedication to the CRC.   

3. We extend well wishes to Mr. Burns as he prepares to retire and enjoy some of his favorite hobbies.  
 

Background: 

The Coastal Region Commission, a multi-county planning and development agency,  was established 

in 1964 and is dedicated to servicing the 10 counties and 35 cities of Coastal Georgia. Our commission 

is the second-fastest growing region in the state. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve Resolution# 024-012 celebrating Mr. Allen Burn’s 16 years of service with the Georgia 
Coastal Regional Commission 
  
 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  Department Review: Administration 
 

Funding Source:  No funding is required.   
 

Attachments: 

1. Resolution 

52

Item XI. 1.



 
 
 

 
 

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA  
 

Celebrating Allen Burns’ Service 

 to Effingham County  
 

 

WHEREAS, numerous public servants are in government service across our region from the local 

level up to the federal level, the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia strives to 

support and acknowledge those who perform outstanding stewardship to our county and 

neighboring affiliates and; 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Allen Burns has held the post of Executive Director for the Georgia Coastal 

Regional Commission, the second-fastest growing region in the state, for 16 years.  This commission 

serves 10 counties and 35 cities, and; 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Burns has an impressive background in Planning and Community and Economic 

Development dating back to 1980 and; 
 

WHEREAS, he has received a plethora of awards and recognitions to include the NADO Innovative 

Ward of which he was a multi-year recipient (2010, 2011, 2013, 2014 and 2015), the Palmetto 

Partnership Award from the Governor (2002) the Catalyst Geospatial Excellence Award from the 

National States Geographic Information Council (2016) and; 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Burns was elected to many commissions including Secretary Georgia Association 

of Regional Commissioners (2010) and Vice President – Georgia Association of Regional 

Commissioners (2013); 
 

WHEREAS, some of his countless accomplishments as Executive Director for the Georgia Coastal 

Regional Commission stems from initiating prayer and the pledge to start meetings, implementation 

of the first Regional Coordinated Transportation System in Georgia, led efforts for first Statewide 

ESRI contract for Geographical Information Systems (GIS) for all regional commissions and also 

developed and started the first Regional Plan and planned and introduced  the Georgia segment of 

the East Coast Greenway and; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, we the sitting Commissioners of Effingham County, 

Georgia recognizes the many successes of and celebrate Mr. Allen Burn’s service to Effingham 

County, the entire State of Georgia, and; 
 

FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED, a copy of this resolution will become part of the Effingham County 

archives.  
 

Humbly submitted this 5th day of March, in the year of our Lord two thousand and twenty-four 

 
____________________   _____________________ __             _________________________  
 Wesley Corbitt - Chairman     Forrest Floyd - 1st District            Roger Burdette - 2nd District  

 ______________________  _____________________              _____________________ 

Jamie Deloach - 3rd District               Reginald Loper - 4th District       Phil Kieffer - 5th District  

  

 

R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O  N 

53

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report         Public Hearing  

Subject:  Ordinance Revision  
Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description:  Consideration to approve the amendment of the Code of Ordinances Part II – 

Official Code: Chapter 70 – Taxation, Article II – Business License and 
Occupation Tax of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  

 
Summary Recommendation 
Due to the increased growth of businesses in Effingham County, we have updated and condensed 
our Business License Ordinance.  
 
Executive Summary/Background 

• Home Occupation, Residential Businesses, and Rural Businesses have been combined into 
one type of License, being called “Residential Business”. Staff can add limitations of the 
scope of business under this category. 

• Commercial/Industrial Businesses will now require a Life Safety Inspection performed by 
our Fire Inspector, as well as submitting a Pre-Plan for review by the Fire Department.  

• Revocation of business license standards are now documented. 
• Signage for Residential Businesses are allowed. 
• Section 3.15 of the Zoning Ordinance and Article II of the Taxation Ordinance are now 

combined into one Ordinance to provide better service to Effingham County Residence. 
• Newly Developed Commercial and Industrial Businesses must submit a Sketch Plan for 

approval by the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners. 
• On February 13, 2024, the Planning Board voted to Table this until April 9, 2024. 

 
Alternatives 

1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Chapter 70 – Taxation; Article II – 
Business License and Occupation Tax 

2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Chapter 70 – Taxation; Article II – 
Business License and Occupation Tax 

 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review: FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:    

1. Chapter 70 – Taxation, Article II – Business License and Occupation Tax Ordinance 
 

54

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

Article II. – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax  
Purpose and Intent - The business license ordinance aims to regulate and govern the 
establishment and operation of businesses within unincorporated Effingham County. It 
serves as a formal document that allows businesses to operate legally and ensures 
compliance with various laws, regulations, and standards. By obtaining a business license, 
companies demonstrate their commitment to operating in a responsible manner, protecting 
consumer rights, and adhering to health, safety, and environmental requirements. 
Additionally, the license allows local authorities to monitor and enforce business activities, 
ensuring fair competition and a level playing field for all enterprises. Overall, the business 
license ordinance aims to safeguard the interests of the public, promote economic growth, 
and maintain the integrity of the business environment. 
 
Definitions. The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this article, shall have 
the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context indicates a different 
meaning:  

Administrative Fee means a component of an occupation tax that approximates the 
reasonable cost of handling and processing the occupation tax. 

Commercial Business means a business operated out of a commercial or industrial 
zoned property. 

Dominant Line means the type of business, within a multiple-line business, that the 
greatest amount of income is derived from.  

Employee means an individual whose work is performed under the direction and 
supervision of the employer and whose employer withholds FICA, federal income 
tax, or state income tax from such individual's compensation, or whose employer 
issues to such individual for purposes of documenting compensation a form IRS W-2 
but not a form IRS 1099. 

Location or Office shall include any structure or vehicle where a business, 
profession, or occupation is conducted but shall not include a temporary or 
construction work site that serves a single customer or project or a vehicle used for 
sales or delivery by a business of practitioner of a profession or occupation which 
has a location or office. 

New Commercial/Industrial Business means a business being conducted out of a 
newly developed location. 

Non-Profit Organization means a group organized for purposes other than 
generating profit and in which no part of the organization’s income is distributed to 
its members, directors, or officers.  

Occupation Tax means a tax levied on persons, partnerships, corporations, or other 
entities for engaging in an occupation, profession, or business for revenue raising 
purposes. 

Practitioner of profession or occupation is one who by state law requires state 
licensure regulating such profession or occupation. Practitioners of professions and 

55

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

occupations shall not include a practitioner who is an employee of a business if the 
business pays an occupation tax. 

Residential Business means a business conducted out of a dwelling or an accessory 
structure located on the property.  

 

Registration Required. 
a. Every person engaging in any business in the county upon which this article 

levies a fee shall register the business with the clerk on or before January 1st  of 
each year, upon forms to be supplied by the county clerk, giving the name, 
address and type of business and such other information as may be required by 
the clerk for the purpose of determining the amount of fee to be assessed by this 
article. Any person who begins business for a trade or profession in the county 
after January 1st in any year shall register his name and business as above 
provided. 

b. All persons holding valid business licenses on or before December 31st shall be 
presumed to be continually engaged in business for the subsequent year for 
purposes of license renewal. 

Businesses with no location in the state. Registration and assessment of an occupation tax is 
imposed on those businesses and practitioners of professions or occupations with no 
location or office in the state if the business's largest dollar volume of business in the state 
is in the county and the business or practitioner either: 

a. Has one or more employees or agents who exert substantial efforts within the 
jurisdiction of the county for the purpose of soliciting business or serving 
customers or clients; or 

b. Owns personal or real property that generates income and is located within the 
jurisdiction of the county.  

Evidence of State Licenses Required 
a. Each person who is licensed by the secretary of state pursuant to O.C.G.A. tit. 43 

shall provide evidence of proper and current state licensure before county 
registration may be issued. 

b. Each person who is licensed by the state shall post the state license in a 
conspicuous place in the licensee's place of business and shall keep the license 
there at all times while the license remains valid. 

 
Evidence of state registration required. 

a. Each person who is licensed by the secretary of state pursuant to O.C.G.A. tit. 43 
shall provide evidence of proper and current state licensure before county 
registration may be issued. 

b. Each person who is licensed by the state shall post the state license in a 
conspicuous place in the licensee's place of business and shall keep the license 
there at all times while the license remains valid. 

Evidence of qualifications required. 

a. Any business required to obtain health permits, bonds, certificates of 
qualification, certificates of competency, or any other regulatory matter shall 

56

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

first, before the issuance of a county business registration, show evidence that 
such requirements have been met. 

b. Any business required to obtain a registration by this article shall first, before 
the issuance of county business registration, show proof of return and payment 
of all county ad valorem taxes due in the year preceding that for which the 
business license is sought and not in dispute, including real and personal 
property taxes and intangible taxes owed by the business; however, a county 
business registration shall be issued upon proof that the tax commissioner and 
the taxpayer have agreed to a plan for the payment of any delinquent taxes 
owed. 

Government Practitioners. Any practitioner whose office is maintained by and who is 
employed in practice exclusively by the United States, the state, a municipality or county of 
the state, instrumentalities of the United States, the state, or a municipality or county of the 
state shall not be required to obtain a license or pay an occupation tax for that practice. 

Professionals. Practitioners of professions as described in O.C.G.A. § 48-13-9(c) shall elect as 
their entire occupation tax one of the following: 

a. The occupation tax is based on the number of employees as outlined in this article. 
b. A fee of $400.00 per practitioner who is licensed to provide the service, such tax to 

be paid at the practitioner's office or location. The per-practitioner fee applies to 
each person in the business who qualifies as a practitioner under the state's 
regulatory guidelines and framework. 

c. This election is to be made annually and must be done by February 1 of each year. 
 
Administrative Fee and Occupational Tax. A non-prorated, nonrefundable administrative 
fee in the amount outlined in the county’s schedule of fees shall be required on all 
occupation tax accounts for the initial registration and annual renewal of such accounts. 
Occupational Tax shall be levied upon those businesses and practitioners of professions 
and occupations with one or more locations or offices in the unincorporated part of the 
county and/or upon the applicable out-of-state businesses with no location or office in 
the state according to O.C.G.A. § 48-13-7 based upon the number of employees or 
practitioner. The tax rate is determined by the number of employees for each business, 
trade, profession, or occupation outlined in the county’s schedule of fees. 
 
Fee Exemptions. Examples of businesses and practitioners of professions and occupations 
which local governments are not authorized to subject to regulatory fees (O.C.G.A. § 48-13-
9) include, but are expressly not limited to, the following: 

a. Lawyers; 
b. Physicians licensed under Chapter 34 of Title 43 of the Official Code of Georgia; 
c. Osteopaths licensed under Chapter 34 of Title 43 of the Official Code of Georgia; 
d. Chiropractors; 
e. Podiatrists; 
f. Dentists; 
g. Optometrists; 
h. Psychologists; 
i. Veterinarians; 

57

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

j. Landscape architects; 
k. Land surveyors; 
l. Practitioners of physiotherapy; 
m. Public accountants; 
n. Embalmers; 
o. Funeral directors; 
p. Civil, mechanical, hydraulic, or electrical engineers; 
q. Architects; 
r. Marriage and family therapists, social workers, and professional counselors; 
s. Dealers of motor vehicles, as defined in paragraph 1 of the Official Code of Georgia, 

Section 10-1-622; 
t. Owners or operators of bona fide coin-operated amusement machines, as defined in 

the Official Code of Georgia, Section 48-17-1, and owners or operators of businesses 
where bona fide coin-operated amusement machines are available for commercial 
use and play by the public, provided that such amusement machines have affixed 
current stickers showing payment of annual permit fees, per the Official Code of 
Georgia, Section 48-17-9; 

u. Merchants or dealers as defined in the Official Code of Georgia, Section 48-5-354 as 
to their deliveries to businesses and practitioners of professions and occupations in 
areas zoned for commercial use; and 

v. Any other business, profession, or occupation for which state licensure or 
registration is required by state law unless the state law regulating such business, 
profession, or occupation specifically allows for regulation by local governments. 
 

Issuance of Business License or Tax Certificate. An application must be submitted to 
Development Services. This application must go through a zoning review to verify the 
property owner, the location of the business, state licenses, etc.  
 
Due Date; Penalty and Interest.  

1. Each occupation tax shall be due and payable on January 1 of each year; 
however, if any person commences business on any date after January 1 
in any year, the tax and administrative fee shall be due and payable on 
the date of the commencement of the business. Should any tax or fee 
imposed by this article remain due and unpaid for 30 days from the due 
date, the person liable for the tax or fee shall be subject to and shall pay 
a penalty of fifty percent of the tax or fee due, together with interest on 
the delinquent amounts at a rate of twenty-five percent per month. 
When any person commences business on or after July 1 in any year, the 
tax for the remaining portion of the year shall be 50 percent of the tax 
imposed for the entire year; however, the administrative fee shall not be 
reduced.  

2. The department of Development Services shall issue the tax registration, 
and if any person whose duty it is to obtain a registration shall after the 
registration or occupation tax becomes delinquent, transact or offer to 
transact, in the county, any profession, trade, or calling subject to  this 
article without having first obtained the registration, such as offender, 

58

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

shall upon conviction be subject to fine or imprisonment as provided in 
Section 1-19. 

Delinquent Occupation Tax. Any occupation tax and administrative fee not paid within 12 
months of the original due date will result in termination of the Business License. If a 
license is terminated the business owner must reapply for the business license and pay 
each year of back fees since the license was terminated. {ex. A business license expires on 
12/31/23, the occupation tax is $50 due to number of employees. If not paid by 2/1/24, 
an additional 50% late fee as well as an additional 25% per month. If not paid by 2/1/25 
the license is terminated. If the business owner would like to apply for a new license in 
2027 they must pay the renewal fee for each year, as well as all late fees and interest 
fees.} 

Revocation of Business License. Effingham County Board of Commissioners or their 
designees have the right to revoke any business license if deemed necessary. Standards of 
revocation may include, but not limited to: operating a business different then the original 
scope of business stated at time of application, or failure to comply with ordinance 
provisions. 
  
Mobile Food Vendors. Mobile Food Vendors must get approval from the Department of 
Public Health. Once they have received their Food Service Permit, they can apply for their 
business license. If the Commercial Kitchen is based out of a Commercial Business, they 
will apply for a Commercial Business License; if they have a Commercial Kitchen at their 
residence, they will apply for a Residential Business License.  
 
General Provisions 

Residential Businesses General Provisions. All residential businesses, where 
permitted in AR-1, AR-2, R Districts, and PD, must meet the following general 
provisions (Excluding Agritourism Businesses): 

1. The residential business shall be clearly incidental and secondary to 
the use of the dwelling. Internal or external changes which will make 
the dwelling unit or lot appear less residential in nature or function 
are prohibited. Examples of such prohibited alterations include 
construction of parking lots, paving of required setbacks, or adding 
commercial-like exterior lighting. 

2. The residential business shall be conducted entirely within the 
principal dwelling unit and/or in a properly permitted, approved 
and fully enclosed accessory building that complies with the 
standards set forth in Chapter 14. 

3. No separate entrance or driveway shall be allowed for the business 
without proper permitting and approval from Effingham County 
Development Services. 

4. Residential Businesses are allowed one sign on the premises not to 
exceed 16sqft in size.  

5. The residential business shall not be open to the public or receive 
deliveries earlier than 6:00am or later than 8:00pm. Routine 
residential-type carriers, such as UPS, and/or Amazon excepted.  

59

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

6. A residential business shall not generate excessive traffic or produce 
obnoxious odors, fumes, smoke, dust, heat, glare, noise, vibration, 
electrical disturbance, or radioactivity or other conditions that will 
be a nuisance to the surrounding area. 

7. Toxic, explosive, flammable, combustible, corrosive, radioactive, or 
other restricted materials, if any, shall be used, stored and disposed 
of in accordance with the International Fire Code and National Fire 
Protection Association Life Safety Code. Activities conducted and 
material/equipment used shall not be of a nature to require the 
installation of fire safety features not standard to residential uses. 

8. Residential businesses are allowed two (2) employees who do not 
reside within the dwelling. 

9. No more than two (2) residential businesses are permitted in a 
single residence. 

10. Residential businesses may serve as headquarters or dispatch 
centers where employees come to the site and are dispatched to 
other locations if Effingham County Development Services approves.  

a. Parking. All parking associated with the residential business 
must be mapped out on a Plot Plan to be approved by 
Effingham County Development Services before issuance of a 
business license.  

b. Fleet Parking. Fleet Parking is prohibited in R Zoning 
Districts, and PD Zoning District. Fleet Parking may be 
allowed in AR-1 or AR-2 Zoning Districts, if located on a 
Truck Route or an Arterial Road and approved by Effingham 
County Development Services via the Sketch Plan Process.  

c. Driveways. GDOT standards must be followed to allow fleet 
parking for a residential business.  

11. Utility Trailers may be used in the operation of the business but 
must be stored out of view from the road, and only in AR-1 or AR-2 
zoning districts.  

12. Uses that require customers to come on site to have a service 
provided for them must be considered under a special approval by 
Effingham County Development Services.  

Examples of such uses are: 
Beauty/Barber Shop 
Small Scale Mechanic Shop 
Accountant 
In Home Daycares 
Swimming Lessons 
Horse Stables 
 

Commercial/Industrial Businesses General Provisions: All commercial, and 
industrial businesses where permitted in B-1, B-2, B-3, I-1 and PD, must meet the 
following general provisions (Excluding Agritourism Businesses): 

60

Item XI. 2.



Part II – Official Code / Chapter 70 – Taxation / Article II – Business Licenses and Occupation Tax 

1. All new Commercial/Industrial Businesses must have a Technical 
Review Committee Meeting with Development Services.  

2. All new Commercial/Industrial Businesses must submit a Sketch 
Plan to go before the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners 
for approval.  

3. All Commercial/Industrial businesses in Effingham County shall 
have a Life Safety/Fire Safety Inspection.  

4. All Commercial/Industrial businesses in Effingham County shall 
submit a Pre-Plan for review by the Effingham County Fire 
Department documenting all but not limited to: emergency exits, fire 
extinguishers, sprinkle rooms, electrical panels and more.   

 

 

61

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report         Public Hearing  

Subject:  Ordinance Revision  
Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description:  Consideration to approve the amendment of the Code of Ordinances Part II – 

Official Code: Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance / Article IX. – Amendments to 
Map or Text / Section 9.2.3 – Sketch Plan of the Effingham County Code of 
Ordinances.  

 
Summary Recommendation 
Due to the increased growth of businesses in Effingham County, we have added a Sketch Plan 
ordinance for all Commercial and Industrial Developments.  
 
Executive Summary/Background 

• Commercial and Industrial developments will be required to submit a Sketch Plan for 
approval by the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners after rezoning approval.  

• This ordinance states Sketch Plans for Commercial and Industrial developments may 
not be on the same Agenda as any rezonings or variance requests.  

• If buffers need to be replanted, applicant must submit a map with types of vegetation 
that will be replanted, in accordance with the Buffer Ordinance.  

• The Applicant must show the entire property and document any phasing that the 
Developer desires.  

• Buffers must be marked before any timbering or Land Disturbing Activity is to take 
place.  

• On February 13, 2024, the Planning Board voted to Table this until March 12, 
2024. 

Alternatives 
1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance / 

Article IX. – Amendments to Map or Text / Section 9.2.3 – Sketch Plan 
2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance / Article IX. 

– Amendments to Map or Text / Section 9.2.3 – Sketch Plan 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review: FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:    

1. Sketch Plan Ordinance 
 

62

Item XI. 3.



Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance / Article IX. – Amendments to Map or Text / Section 9.2.3 - sketch plan 
preliminary plan 

9.2.3 Sketch Plan Preliminary Plan 

An applicant must submit a sketch plan preliminary plan of the entire contiguous tract after 
the rezoning has been completed if rezoning for non-residential uses and prior to any Land 
Disturbing Activities or Development Plan Review Permits can be reviewed. If a sketch plan 
preliminary plan is not presented for the entire property, the property directly adjacent to the 
contiguous tract and under the same ownership not included in the sketch plan preliminary plan 
may not be subdivided for 24 months following the approval of the final plat of the original 
contiguous property. 

The purpose of a sketch plan preliminary plan is to provide both the applicant and the 
county an opportunity to review the proposed development before significant financial resources 
have been invested. Therefore, the sketch plan preliminary plan does not require the certification of 
an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing features, including water bodies, wetlands, 
and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the sketch plan preliminary plan. 

Suppose an applicant chooses to utilize professional resources (engineer, surveyor, etc.) in 
preparation of the sketch plan preliminary plan. In that case, this shall in no way obligate the 
county to approve such plans based on the expenditure of time or resources premature to sketch 
plan preliminary plan approval.  

9.2.3.1 Scale.  
The sketch plan preliminary plan shall be drawn at a scale of not less than 100 feet to one 

inch. 

9.2.3.2 Vicinity map.  
The sketch plan preliminary plan shall include a vicinity map at a scale of approximately 

one inch, which equals one mile, showing the relationship of the proposed subdivision to the 
surrounding development. 

9.2.3.3 Other Requirements.  
The sketch plan preliminary plan shall show: 

1. Proposed name of development 
2. Name, address, and telephone number of petitioner and architect, surveyor, engineer, or 

designer. 
3. Development Summary must be shown.  
4. Location of natural and/or manmade water bodies if present. 
5. Location of jurisdictional wetlands if present. 
6. If septic systems are to be used for wastewater treatment, then a soil survey is required. 
7. Extent of 100-year flood zone if present. 
8. Date of preparation. 
9. Total acreage in the tract to be subdivided or phased. 
10. Existing and proposed uses of land throughout the development. 
11. Other existing features, including buildings, easements, utilities, etc. 
12. Approximate topography. 
13. Approximate location and width of all streets, driveways, parking lots, detention 

structures, lighting, fire hydrants and other permanent features, excluding utilities. 
14. Zoning classification, owners name, and existing uses of adjacent property. 
15. Vegetated Buffers according to Section 3.4 – Buffers.  

63

Item XI. 3.



Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance / Article IX. – Amendments to Map or Text / Section 9.2.3 - sketch plan 
preliminary plan 

16. Any additional information as specified by the Effingham County sketch plan 
Preliminary Plan Review Checklist, as adopted by the board of commissioners. 

9.2.3.4 Subdivision of part of property or phasing.  

The subdivider shall submit a sketch plan preliminary plan of his entire tract even though 
his present plans call for the actual development of only a part of the property. 

9.2.3.5 Process of sketch plan Preliminary Plan Approval 

 sketch plan Preliminary plan for Commercial or Industrial Developments may not be 
submitted at the same time as a Rezoning Request Application. Variance Requests may be heard at 
the same meeting.  sketch plan Preliminary Plan may be submitted for the following deadline. This 
is in case the Planning Board or the Board of Commissioners adds any conditions during the 
rezoning. The Applicant can submit the sketch plan preliminary plan showing these changes before 
the Board(s) votes to approve or deny.  

9.2.3.5 Notice to Proceed 

 Notice to Proceed will be issued after approval of the sketch plan preliminary plan and a 
member of the Development Services Staff has marked buffers. 

 If buffers have been removed, a contract and planting diagram must be submitted to 
Development Services before any permits can be issued.  

64

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Table of Permitted Uses 
Author:  Steve Candler 

Department:  Development Services 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration of an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II; 

Appendix C, Article V – Table of Permitted Uses 

 

Summary Recommendation 
The Board of Commissioners approved a significant amendment to the Table of Permitted Uses  

in November of 2023.  These amendments proposed tonight eliminate any further conflicts in  

the zoning ordinance and allow for an expansion of existing uses. 

 

Executive Summary/Background  
The amendment includes the following changes:  

 Ready Mix Concrete Plant:  Currently I-1, move to I-2 

 

 Add an R-2 column in residential to include attached townhomes and duplexes 

 

 Add tiny homes as a conditional use in the R-4 

 

 Remove rural business use from the PD zoning district 

 

 Add rural business as a conditional use in AR-1 and AR-2 zoning districts 

 

 Delete from the Retail Category-Plant Gardens and Outdoor Nurseries 

 

 Delete all commercial agricultural from the AR-2 

 

 Insert the land use Airfields as a conditional use in AR-1 

 

 Add Food Processing to B-3 zoning district as a conditional 

 

 Add land use golf courses as a conditional use in R-1 R-2, R-3, R-4, R-5, PD-R and a 

permitted use in B-1, B-2 and B-3 

Alternatives  
Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II; Appendix C; Article V – Table of 

Permitted Uses 

 

Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II; Appendix C; Article V – Table of 

Permitted Uses 

 

65

Item XI. 4.



 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review:  Development Services, Planning Board  FUNDING: N/A 

 

Attachments: N/A 

 

66

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Ordinance Revision 

Author:  Steve Candler 

Department:  Development Services 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration of an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Chapter 62 

Signs 

 

Summary Recommendation 
The county has a section for Signs in the zoning ordinance-Article III Section 3.38. 

Chapter 62 conflicts with Article III Section 3.38 and needs to be deleted. 

 

Executive Summary/Background  
Development Services is recommending the deletion of Chapter 62-Signs of the Effingham  

Code of Ordinances.  Chapter 62 conflicts with Part II, Article III, Section 3.38 Signs of the zoning 

ordinance is a more comprehensive and complete ordinance for enforcement of our sign 

regulations. 

 

Alternatives  
Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Chapter 62 Signs-deletion. 

 

Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Chapter 62 Signs 

 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 

 

Attachments:  1. Chapter 62 

   2. Part II, Article III, Section 3.338   

 

67

Item XI. 5.



68

Item XI. 5.



69

Item XI. 5.



70

Item XI. 5.



71

Item XI. 5.



72

Item XI. 5.



73

Item XI. 5.



74

Item XI. 5.



75

Item XI. 5.



76

Item XI. 5.



77

Item XI. 5.



78

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Proposal from Pond & Company for the Blue Jay Road Corridor 

Study and Concept Design 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works/Engineering 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Design 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the proposal from Pond 

for the Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Design 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County requested a proposal from Pond & Company for a Blue Jay 

Road Corridor Study and Concept Design. The boundaries of the project were 

adjusted to include the City of Rincon area based on their request.  

 Pond will evaluate Blue Jay Road from Sandhill Road to SR 21 to determine 

improvements needed based on current and future use.  

 Tasks include base data coordination, traffic analysis, and concept layout.  

 Phase 1 (Effingham County Portion) - $327,072.85 

 Phase 2 (City of Rincon Portion) - $41,089.55 

o City of Rincon has agreed to pay this portion. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Proposal from Pond & Company for the Blue Jay Road Corridor 

Study and Concept Design in the amount of $327,072.85 for the Effingham 

County portion of the project 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, T&H, County Engineer, Procurement/Capital 

Projects 

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments: Proposal from Pond 

 

 

 

 

79

Item XI. 6.



 

 

February 12, 2024 
 
Tim Callanan 
County Manager 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
Re: Effingham County – Professional Transportation Design Services Fee Proposal –  

Blue Jay Road – Corridor Study and Concept Design 
 

Pond & Company (Pond) is pleased to submit this proposal for transportation engineering design services for the 
above project. The paragraphs below describe the professional services and fees to accomplish this work. 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING: 
Effingham County is looking to evaluate Blue Jay Road, from Sand Hill Road to the McCall Road/Blandford Road 
intersection, to determine improvements needed based on its current truck route designation and anticipated 
heavy freight operations and future connectivity.  With its connection to Effingham Parkway and SR 21 (11.3 
miles) to the east and connection to Sandy Hill Road with eventual extension to US 80 to the west, Blue Jay Road 
will be one of the main east-west corridors within Effingham County. Tasks will include traffic analysis, as well as 
the development of a concept layout and associated costs to identify impacts including adjacent properties, 
utilities, etc. The geometry of this layout will include all necessary tie-ins for various ongoing projects (design 
files to be provided by Effingham County). Analysis and recommendations will factor in previous studies, 
including the Effingham Transportation Master Plan (TMP), Coastal Empire Transportation Study, and the 
Southeast Roadway Network Expansion.  
 
Due to the involvement of the City of Rincon, we are soliciting this proposal into (2) separate phases for funding 
reasons: 
 

▪ Phase 1: Effingham County Responsibility – Blue Jay Road, from Sand Hill Road to McCall Road/Blandford 
Road (east of RR crossing) 
 

▪ Phase 2: City of Rincon Responsibility – Blandford Road, from Sherwood Road to SR 21 
 
 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: 
The work in this proposal will consist of traffic analysis and traffic engineering report, along with concept layout 
and associated cost estimate. Pond, along with our subconsultants, will provide the traffic analysis and design 
services necessary for completing the tasks as described herein for Effingham County.  
 
 
 

80

Item XI. 6.



2 

 

Scope of Work 
 
Phase 1 – Task 1: Base Data Coordination 
 
Task 1.1A: Environmental Services – Pond will complete a preliminary Desktop Environmental and Cultural 
Resources Screening to identify potential resources or constraints within the project area. More specifically, Pond 
will conduct a thorough review of publicly available online data sources including, at a minimum:  
 
Environmental: 

▪ Georgia Department of Natural Resources (GADNR) Rare Species and Natural Community Data 
▪ Georgia’s Natural, Archaeological, and Historic Resources Geographic Information System (GNAHRGIS) 

Ecology Database 
▪ Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) Soils Maps 
▪ United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) Tool 
▪ USFWS National Wetlands Inventory 
▪ U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) National Hydrography Dataset 
▪ USGS National Land Cover Database 
▪ USGS Topographic Maps  
▪ Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) National Flood Hazard Layer 
▪ Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) NEPAssist  
▪ Georgia Environmental Protection Division (GAEPD) Hazardous Site Inventory 

Cultural: 

▪ Current and Historic Aerial Photographs (multiple sources) 
▪ GNAHRGIS Cultural Database 
▪ Georgia Archaeological Site File 
▪ National Park Service National Register of Historic Places  

 
Task 1.1B:  Environmental Screening Report – An environmental screening report and GIS mapping of identified 
potential resources/constraints will be provided to document all findings. 
 
Task 1.1C. Geotechnical Services – Pond will utilize the geotechnical subconsultant, Terracon, to complete 
asphalt pavement cores (21 total) with soil test borings at locations along Goshen Road. See Exhibit A for these 
locations. 

 
The soil test borings are planned to a depth of 5 feet below existing ground surface. The purpose of the field 
exploration would be to provide information on the pavement and shallow subsurface soil conditions. 
Laboratory testing will be completed for all samples. The results of the field and laboratory programs will be 
evaluated, and a geotechnical engineering report will be prepared under the supervision of a licensed 
professional engineer. The geotechnical engineering report will provide the following:   

 
▪ Boring logs with field and laboratory data  
▪ Stratification based on visual soil classification  
▪ Groundwater levels observed during and after the completion of drilling  
▪ Site Location and Exploration Plans  

81

Item XI. 6.



3 

 

▪ Subsurface exploration procedures  
▪ Description of subsurface conditions  
▪ Earthwork recommendations including site/subgrade preparation  
▪ Recommended pavement options and design parameters 

 
Deliverables for Task 1.1: 

• Environmental Screening Report 

• Geotechnical Report 
 
 

Phase 1 – Task 2: Traffic Analysis 
 
Task 1.2A:  Traffic Data Collection – All traffic data collection will be performed by a sub-consultant and provided 
to Pond.  The traffic counts listed below will be collected during an agreed/approved week that schools are in 
session: 
 

• 6-Hour Turning Movement Count (6:00 – 9:00 AM – 4:00 – 7:00 PM): 
o Blue Jay Rd at SR 17 
o Blue Jay Rd at Emerald Crossing/Ruby Trail 
o Blue Jay Rd at Greystone Dr 
o Blue Jay Rd at Horsepen Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd at Oak Lawn Dr 
o Blue Jay Rd at Ottis Seckinger Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd at Blandford Way 
o Blue Jay Rd at Arcanti Dr 

 

• 12-Hour Turning Movement Count (7:00 AM – 7:00 PM): 
o Blue Jay Rd at Sand Hill Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd at Midland Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd at Hodgeville Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd at McCall Rd West 
o Blue Jay Rd at McCall Rd East 
o Blandford Rd at McCall Rd 

 

• 24-Hour Traffic Volume and Classification Counts: 
o Blue Jay Rd East of Sand Hill Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd East of SR 17 
o Blue Jay Rd East of Midland Rd 
o Blue Jay Rd East of Hodgeville Rd 

 
Task 1.2B:  Traffic Analysis – Pond will analyze the traffic along the corridor to determine what lane configuration 
(along Blue Jay Road) is most suitable for each intersection. Other corridor-wide geometrical and capacity 
improvements will be evaluated as well to accommodate increased freight, including increased radii at 
intersection, the addition of turn lanes, etc. Other recommendations from the Effingham Transportation Master 
Plan (TMP) and Southeast Roadway Network Expansion will be factored in as well. 
 

82

Item XI. 6.



4 

 

Pond will coordinate with GDOT regarding the improvements for the Blue Jay Road Extension and Freight 
Upgrades, included within the Coastal Empire Transportation Study, as well as the Effingham Parkway Extension 
project. This assumes the input of previously completed and balanced forecasted volumes for Effingham Parkway 
and planning level traffic forecasting used in the Coastal Empire Study. Pond will coordinate with Effingham 
County to determine other ongoing developments or approved future developments. Pond will obtain the Traffic 
Impact Studies (TIS) from the county and input forecasted volumes. No trip generation will be included within this 
scope of work. 
 
A review of crash history will be completed utilizing GDOT’s GEARS and Numetric databases. Capacity analysis will 
be performed for each intersection using Synchro Software. This analysis will be performed for the AM and PM 
peak hours of the existing year, opening year, and design year. Analysis of the opening and design years will 
include a no-build condition. This analysis will be used to determine what improvements and alternatives are 
necessary to obtain acceptable operations. 
 
The GDOT Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) tool will be utilized to determine the potential improvements at 
the intersection of Blue Jay Road at SR 17. Stage 1 with a Waiver Request has been assumed since the existing 
intersection consists of a roundabout configuration. 
 
Task 1.2C: Traffic Engineering (TE) Report – Pond will document the analysis results and recommendations in a 
Traffic Engineering Report. 
 
Task 1.2D: Effingham County Review – Pond will submit the TE Report to Effingham County for comment/approval. 
This task includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the report. We will respond to (1) round of comments 
and incorporate appropriate comments into the report. 
 

Deliverables for Task 1.2: 

• Traffic Engineering Report including forecast traffic volumes and analysis results 
 
 
Phase 1 – Task 3: Concept Layout 
 
Task 1.3A:  Base Mapping Setup: Pond will utilize the electronic design files (i.e. DGN, DWG, etc) provided by 
Effingham County to develop the basemapping. This includes any applicable data, including topographic survey, 
GIS data (i.e. parcel data, roadway data, utility data, and contour information), and adjacent intersection 
improvement projects within the limits of this project. This information will be overlayed on high-resolution 
aerial imagery. 

 
Task 1.3B:  Concept Layout – Pond will utilize the basemapping from Task 1.3A to prepare a concept layout for 
Blue Jay Road, from Sand Hill Road to McCall Road/Blandford Road. The concept layout will indicate the 
proposed geometric improvements and potential impacts, including property/right-of-way, utility, etc. In 
addition, Pond will evaluate the realignment alternative for the intersection of Blue Jay Road at Sandhill Road, 
due to the possible US 280 extension. The concept will also be sure to accommodate a new sewer force main. 
 
Task 1.3C:  Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare a concept-level cost estimate for the concept layout, including 
right-of-way/property costs (county to provide right-of-way and easement costs).   
 

83

Item XI. 6.



5 

 

Task 1.3D: Effingham County Review – Pond will submit the Concept Layout and Cost Estimate to Effingham 
County for comment/approval. This task includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the plans. We will respond 
to (1) round of comments and incorporate appropriate comments into the plans. Pond will then attend a second 
meeting with the County to review the revised plans and address and final questions. 

 
Deliverables Task 1.3: 

• Concept Layout  

• Cost Estimate  
 
 
Phase 2 – Task 1: Traffic Analysis 
 
Task 2.1A:  Traffic Data Collection – All traffic data collection will be performed by a sub-consultant and provided 
to Pond.  The traffic counts listed below will be collected during an agreed/approved week that schools are in 
session: 
 

• 6-Hour Turning Movement Count (6:00 – 9:00 AM – 4:00 – 7:00 PM): 
o Blandford Rd/Ninth St at Sherwood Rd 
o Blandford Rd/Ninth St at Howard Ave 
o Ninth St at Middleground Road 
o Ninth St at Georgia Ave 
o Ninth St at North Carolina Ave 
o Ninth St at SR 21 

 

• 24-Hour Traffic Volume and Classification Counts: 
o Ninth St East of North Carolina Ave 

 
Task 2.1B:  Traffic Analysis – Pond will analyze the traffic along the corridor to determine what lane configuration 
(along Blue Jay Road) is most suitable for each intersection. Other corridor-wide geometrical and capacity 
improvements will be evaluated as well to accommodate increased freight, including increased radii at 
intersection, the addition of turn lanes, etc. Other recommendations from the Effingham Transportation Master 
Plan (TMP) and Southeast Roadway Network Expansion will be factored in as well. 
 
Pond will coordinate with GDOT regarding the improvements for the Blue Jay Road Extension and Freight 
Upgrades, included within the Coastal Empire Transportation Study, as well as the Effingham Parkway Extension 
project. This assumes the input of previously completed and balanced forecasted volumes for Effingham Parkway 
and planning level traffic forecasting used in the Coastal Empire Study. Pond will coordinate with Effingham 
County/City of Rincon to determine other ongoing developments or approved future developments. Pond will 
obtain the Traffic Impact Studies (TIS) from the city and input forecasted volumes. No trip generation will be 
included within this scope of work. 
 
A review of crash history will be completed utilizing GDOT’s GEARS and Numetric databases. Capacity analysis will 
be performed for each intersection using Synchro Software. This analysis will be performed for the AM and PM 
peak hours of the existing year, opening year, and design year. Analysis of the opening and design years will 
include a no-build condition. This analysis will be used to determine what improvements and alternatives are 
necessary to obtain acceptable operations. 

84

Item XI. 6.



6 

 

The GDOT Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) tool will be utilized to determine the potential improvements at 
the intersection of Ninth Street at SR 21. Although Stage 1 with a Waiver Request might be sufficient, Stage 2 will 
be considered for overall alternative evaluation. 
 
Task 2.1C: Traffic Engineering (TE) Report – Pond will document the analysis results and recommendations in the 
Traffic Engineering Report included in 1.2C. 
 
Task 2.1D: City of Rincon Review – Pond will submit the TE Report to the City of Rincon for comment/approval. 
This task includes (1) meeting with the city to discuss the report. We will respond to (1) round of comments and 
incorporate appropriate comments into the report. 
 

Deliverables for Task 2.1: 

• N/A – Included in Phase 1 
 
 
Phase 2 – Task 2: Concept Layout 
 
Task 2.2A:  Base Mapping Setup: Pond will utilize the electronic design files (i.e. DGN, DWG, etc) provided by 
Effingham County to develop the basemapping. This includes any applicable data, including topographic survey, 
GIS data (i.e. parcel data, roadway data, utility data, and contour information), and adjacent intersection 
improvement projects within the limits of this project. This information will be overlayed on high-resolution 
aerial imagery. 

 
Task 2.2B:  Concept Layout – Pond will utilize the basemapping from Task 2.2A to prepare a concept layout for 
Blandford Road, from Sherwood Road to SR 21. The concept layout will indicate the proposed geometric 
improvements and potential impacts, including property/right-of-way, utility, etc. The overall conceptual layout 
will be completed in conjunction with the layout in Task 1.3B. 
 
Task 2.2C:  Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare a concept-level cost estimate for the concept layout, including 
right-of-way/property costs (county to provide right-of-way and easement costs).   
 
Task 2.2D: City of Rincon Review – Pond will submit the Concept Layout and Cost Estimate to the City of Rincon 
for comment/approval. This task includes (1) meeting with the city to discuss the plans. We will respond to (1) 
round of comments and incorporate appropriate comments into the plans. Pond will then attend a second 
meeting with the city to review the revised plans and address and final questions. 

 
Deliverables Task 2.2: 

• N/A – Included in Phase 1 
 
 
Schedule 
Pond has estimated that Task 1.1 through Task 2.2 listed above can be completed within (10) months, following 
Notice to Proceed (NTP) from Effingham County and completion of traffic data collection services. Please note 
that this schedule timeframe is also dependent on subconsultant scheduling and agency review times. 
 
 

85

Item XI. 6.



7 

 

 
ASSUMPTIONS: 
The design plans will be prepared as a locally funded project and will not be prepared in accordance with all 
processes and requirement of the GDOT Plan Develop Process (PDP). 
 
Services or tasks not specifically outlined above are excluded and would be considered additional services.  
Services not included in the scope: 
 

• Full Engineering Design including 
Preliminary, Right-of-Way, and Final Design 
Plans 

• The Conceptual Layout will consist of a 
Continuous Roll Plot. No Separate Layouts 
for the City Versus the County 

• The Traffic Engineering Report will consist of 
a Single Report. No Separate Report for the 
City Versus the County 

• Pond will obtain the Traffic Impact Studies 
(TIS) from the county and input forecasted 
volumes. No trip generation will be included 
within this scope of work. 

• Traffic Analysis – Beyond Task 1.2 and 2.1 

• Traffic Data Collection – Beyond Task 1.2 and 
2.1 

• Intersection Geometry for Roundabout 
Configuration is limited to General 
Footprint. Performance Checks (i.e. Fastest 
Path Analysis) will be Excluded 

• Trip Generation for Existing or Future 
Developments 

• Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) Process 

• Traffic Signal Plans 

• Detailed Field Surveys for Natural or 
Cultural Resources  

• Environmental Permitting 

• Right-of-Way Staking, Right of Way 
Acquisition Services/Assistance 

• Post Design, Construction Administration, 
and Bidding Assistance Services 

• Other Items Beyond Scope Listed in Task 1 
through Task 3 

• Railroad Preliminary Engineering Review or 
Other Associated Fees  

• Structural Design and/or Analysis

• ITS/Signal Communications Plans 

• Lighting Plans 

• Landscaping Plans 

• Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) Services 

• GDOT Plan Development Process (PDP) 

• GDOT Concept Report 

• Additional Meetings 

• MS4 Analysis/Documentation 

• Public Involvement 

• Geotechnical Services 

• Phasing of Construction and/or Design 

• Hydraulic Investigation 

86

Item XI. 6.



 

 

PROFESSIONAL FEES: 

Pond proposes to accomplish all tasks for Phase 1 and Phase 2 for a Not-to-Exceed total of $368,162.40 The fee 

details are listed in the attached Man-Hour Estimate and are based on the contracted unit rates, not to exceed 

lump-sum total of $368,162.40 to be billed on a percent complete basis. The breakdown of Phase 1 and Phase 2 

are shown below: 

 

• Phase 1: Effingham County Responsibility – $327,072.85 

 

• Phase 2: City of Rincon Responsibility – $41,089.55 

 

If this fee and scope is acceptable, Pond & Company is available to begin work immediately. If you would like to 

discuss or modify the scope please contact me at FangmannR@pondco.com or Zach Puckett, who will serve as 

the Project Manager, at PuckettZ@pondco.com or via phone at (678) 336-7740.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

POND & COMPANY 

 

 
Richard Fangmann, PE, PTOE 

Vice-President 

 

Cc:   Zach Puckett, PE        

 Melissa Phillips   

 

 

Attachments: 

Man-Hour Estimates 

 
Client Pond & Company 

Signed (Must be an Officer or Authorized Agent) Signed (Must be an Officer or Authorized Agent) 

Typed Name Typed Name 

Title Title 

Date Date 

87

Item XI. 6.



PHASE
AMOUNTS

Phase 1 Base Data Coordination 39,364.00$        

Phase 2 Traffic Analysis 103,848.40$     

Phase 3 Concept Design 224,950.00$     

TOTAL DESIGN COST FOR ALL SEGMENTS 368,162.40$     

2/12/2024

Effingham County

Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept

Project Length 11.2 miles

COST  AMOUNT  OF  CONTRACT  PROPOSAL

SUMMARY  BY PHASE

Sand Hill Road to SR 21

88

Item XI. 6.



PROJECT: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Sand Hill Road to SR 21

Phase 1
Base Data Coordination

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 0 250.00$         -$               

PROJECT MANAGER 4 230.00$         920.00$         

SENIOR ENGINEER 0 200.00$         -$               

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 0 130.00$         -$               

SENIOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 162.84$         -$               

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 131.33$         -$               

ADMINISTRATIVE 3 95.00$           285.00$         

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 7 Manhours 1,205.00$            

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.55$             0 -$                     

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

-$                     

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

7,524.00$            

30,635.00$          

 

38,159.00$          

39,364.00$          

ITEM

Direct Cost Total

Effingham County

Phase 1 Summary

MILEAGE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

SUB CONSULTANT

Environmental - POND

Geotechnical Services

Subconsultant Sub Total

89

Item XI. 6.



PROJECT: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Sand Hill Road to SR 21

Phase 1
Base Data Coordination

TASKS Assumptions
No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SENIOR 
LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

ADMINISTRATIVE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 
HOURS

Non-Drawing Tasks

Project Management Invoices, progress reports (assumed 2 month duration)(1 hr/each) 1 1 2 28.6%

External Coordination Meeting   

Internal Coordination Meeting   

Coordination with sub Assumes geotechnical 3 2 5 71.4%

Drawing Tasks
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

TOTALS 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 3 7 100.0%

Effingham County

Phase 1 Detail

90

Item XI. 6.



PROJECT: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Sand Hill Road to SR 21

Phase 2
Traffic Analysis

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 31 250.00$         7,750.00$      

PROJECT MANAGER 67 230.00$         15,410.00$    

SENIOR ENGINEER 142 200.00$         28,400.00$    

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 296 130.00$         38,480.00$    

SENIOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 162.84$         -$               

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 131.33$         -$               

ADMINISTRATIVE 12 95.00$           1,140.00$      

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 548 Manhours 91,180.00$          

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.67$             520 348.40$               

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

348.40$               

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

12,320.00$          

 

12,320.00$          

103,848.40$        COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

Direct Cost Total

SUB CONSULTANT

Traffic Counts

Subconsultant Sub Total

MILEAGE

Effingham County

Phase 2 Summary

ITEM

91

Item XI. 6.



PROJECT: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Sand Hill Road to SR 21

Phase 2
Traffic Analysis

TASKS Assumptions
No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SENIOR 
LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

ADMINISTRATIVE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 
HOURS

Non-Drawing Tasks

Project Management Invoices, progress reports (assumed 4 months duration)(1 hr/each) 1 4 4 9 1.6%

External Coordination Meeting 4 external meetings @ 1 hr per meeting (virtual) 4 4 4 4 16 2.9%

Internal Coordination Meeting 4 internal meetings @ 1 hr per meeting 4 4 4 4 16 2.9%

Quality Control Assumes TE Report Review 2 3 4 9 1.6%

Drawing Tasks

Traffic Analysis 8 35 80 190 313 57.1%

Report Documentation 6 30 65 101 18.4%
  

Coordination with Adjacent Projects Includes GDOT projects (freight and Effingham Pkwy), TIS 6 8 18 32 64 11.7%
  

Coordination with Sub 1 1 2 0.4%
  

BOC Presentation 12 3 3 18 3.3%
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

TOTALS 0 31 67 142 296 0 0 12 548 100.0%

Effingham County

Phase 2 Detail

92

Item XI. 6.



PROJECT: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Sand Hill Road to SR 21

Phase 3
Concept Design

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 13 250.00$         3,250.00$        

PROJECT MANAGER 114 230.00$         26,220.00$      

SENIOR ENGINEER 426 200.00$         85,200.00$      

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 841 130.00$         109,330.00$    

SENIOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 162.84$         -$                 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 131.33$         -$                 

ADMINISTRATIVE 10 95.00$           950.00$           

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 1404 Manhours 224,950.00$        

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.55$             0 -$                     

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

-$                     

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

-$                     

-$                     

 

-$                     

224,950.00$        COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

Direct Cost Total

SUB CONSULTANT

Subconsultant Sub Total

MILEAGE

Effingham County

Phase 3 Summary

ITEM

93

Item XI. 6.



PROJECT: Blue Jay Road Corridor Study and Concept Sand Hill Road to SR 21

Phase 3
Concept Design

TASKS Assumptions
No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SENIOR 
LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

ADMINISTRATIVE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 
HOURS

Non-Drawing Tasks

Project Management Invoices, progress reports (assumed 4 months duration)(1 hr/each) 1 4 4 9 0.6%

External Coordination Meeting 2 external meetings @ 1 hr per meeting (virtual) 2 2 2 2 8 0.6%

Internal Coordination Meeting 4 internal meetings @ 1 hr per meeting 4 4 4 4 16 1.1%

Quality Control Assumes Concept Layout Review 4 8 4 16 1.1%

Drawing Tasks

Basemapping Setup Includes coordination with ongoing developments 15 67 85 167 11.9%

Concept Layout Includes coordination with ongoing developments 10 65 295 638 1008 71.8%

Concept Cost Estimate 20 50 110 180 12.8%
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

TOTALS 0 13 114 426 841 0 0 10 1404 100.0%

Effingham County

Phase 3 Detail

94

Item XI. 6.



Proposal for Geotechnical Engineering Services 

Blue Jay Road Corridor Study | Rincon, GA 

January 30, 2024 | Terracon Proposal No. PES245024 

 

 

 

Note to Preparer: This is a large table with outside borders. Just click inside the table 

above this text box, then paste your GIS Toolbox image. 

 

When paragraph markers are turned on you may notice a line of hidden text above 

and outside the table – please leave that alone. Limit editing to inside the table. 

 

The line at the bottom about the general location is a separate table line. You can edit 

it as desired, but try to keep to a single line of text to avoid reformatting the page. 

Exhibit D – Site Location 

 

DIAGRAM IS FOR GENERAL LOCATION ONLY, AND IS NOT INTENDED FOR CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES      MAP PROVIDED BY MICROSOFT BING MAPS 

95

Item XI. 6.



Proposal for Geotechnical Engineering Services 

Blue Jay Road Corridor Study | Rincon, GA 

January 30, 2024 | Terracon Proposal No. PES245024 

 

 

 

Note to Preparer: This is a large table with outside borders. Just click inside the table 

above this text box, then paste your GIS Toolbox image. 

 

When paragraph markers are turned on you may notice a line of hidden text above 

and outside the table – please leave that alone. Limit editing to inside the table. 

 

The line at the bottom about the general location is a separate table line. You can edit 

it as desired, but try to keep to a single line of text to avoid reformatting the page. 

Exhibit E – Anticipated Exploration Plan 

 

DIAGRAM IS FOR GENERAL LOCATION ONLY, AND IS NOT INTENDED FOR CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES                  MAP PROVIDED BY MICROSOFT BING MAPS 

 
96

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Additional Services Request from Alliance Consulting Engineers 

for the Courthouse Road Realignment Design Project 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works/Engineering 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Additional Services Request from Alliance Consulting Engineers for 

the Courthouse Road Realignment Design Project 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Additional Services 

Request from Alliance Consulting Engineers for the Courthouse Road Realignment 

Design Project 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff requesting the additional services for the Courthouse Road Realignment 

which includes the lighting design for the future roundabout and design of left-

turn lanes on McCall for the future SR 21 stop light. 

 The request from Alliance is a NTE total of $142,000.00 and will be billed based 

upon the rates approved in their IDC agreement. (Original Contract: $405,000.00. 

New Contract Price: $547,000.00) 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Additional Services Request from Alliance Consulting Engineers for 

the Courthouse Road Realignment Design Project in the amount of $142,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, T&H, County Engineer, P/CP 

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments: Additional Services Proposal 

 

 

 

 

97

Item XI. 7.



98

Item XI. 7.



99

Item XI. 7.



100

Item XI. 7.



101

Item XI. 7.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order 3 for McWright LLC for Contract 23-ITB-031 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement & Capital Projects Manager 

Department: EMS/Prison 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Approval of Change Order 3 for McWright LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of CO3 in the amount of 

$13,852.00 for McWright LLC for Contract 23-ITB-031 – EMS and Prison Maintenance 

Building Construction/Renovation 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 McWright LLC was awarded contract 23-ITB-031 for the renovation/expansion of 

the EMS Headquarters and construction of the Prison Maintenance building. 

Albeck Group, LLC is assisting Effingham County in the project management. 

 Change Order 1 included four (4) change order requests since the beginning of 

the construction. COR1 was denied by the County with Albeck’s input (request 

for a door swap and time extension). COR2, 3, and 4 were approved for a total of 

$12,081.00 

 Change Order 2 included COR6 which was requested by staff to move the 

electrical service for the sign to the other side of the drive. The total for this 

request is $2,179.00. 

 Change Order 3 includes power and terminations to the overhead doors (4 at the 

PMB and 3 at the EMS site) and the extension of 8 conduits at the PMB for future 

expansion for a total of $13,852.00. 

 Original Contract Price: $2,942,170.00 

 Change Order 1: $12,081.00 

 Change Order 2: $2,179.00 

 Change Order 3: $13,852.00 

 Updated Contract Price: $2,970,282.00 

  

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of CO3 in the amount of $13,852.00 for McWright LLC for Contract 23-

ITB-031 – EMS and Prison Maintenance Building Construction/Renovation 

2. Take no action. 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Albeck Group, LLC., County Manager, Project Manager 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments: Change Order 3 and supporting documentation 

102

Item XI. 8.



Change Order # 3

 
 

Project: 23-ITB-031 – EMS/PMB Construction 

Contract Date: June 21, 2023 

Change Order Effective Date: March 5, 2024 

Change Order Issued to: McWright, LLC 

    1303 Corder Rd 

    Warner Robins, GA 31088 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

COR 7 PMB and EMS OH door power and backup $8,463.00 

 - Power and terminations to 4 overhead doors at PMB ($4,230)   

 - Power and terminations to 3 overhead doors at EMS ($3,175)  

 - GC Liability, bond increase, GC fee ($1,058)  

COR 8 Extend future conduits at PMB  

 - Labor/material to extend 8 conduits for future expansion $5,389.00 

   

 TOTAL $13,852.00 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 2,942,170.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 14,260.00 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 2,956,430.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 13,852.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 2,970,282.00 

The Contract Time will be increased by 0 days 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  McWright, LLC 

804 S. Laurel Street     1303 Corder Rd 

Springfield, GA 31329     Warner Robins, GA 31088 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

103

Item XI. 8.



P.O. Box 903  Bonaire, GA 31005 478-697-1559 

X
Matthew McMillian
McWright, LLC

 McWright, LLC. 

 
Date: February 7, 2024 
Job: Effingham County EMS and PW 
Address: 285 1st Street Extension Springfield, GA 31329 
Owner: Effingham County Board of Commissioners  
 

 
Change Order Request #7- PW and EMS OH door power 

and backup      
 
Reference: Missing from Plan/Owner Request  
 
Scope of Work: 

• Power and terminations to (4) overhead doors at Public Works 
o Electrical Sub Quote: $4,230.00 

 
• Power and terminations to (3) overhead doors at EMS 
• Includes backup power like at Guyton Station #13 (see pics for more information) 

o Electrical Sub Quote: $3,175.00 
 
Total Add Price-$8,463.00 
 
 

104

Item XI. 8.



PO Box 903                                             
Boanire, GA 31005                                    
www.mcwrightconstruction.com  

Project:
COR #:
Date:
Description:
Architect:

Notes Price

Notes Price 

Notes Price

Totals Subcontractor(s) Price 7,405.00$                 
0

McWright LLC 

no backup power to doors at Public Works

3,175.00$                 

4,230.00$                 

Effingham County EMS and PW

2/7/2024
7

OH door Power at PW and EMS

GC Fee

Total

7,405.00$                                         
203.64$                                            

-$                                                  

608.69$                                            

8,463.85$                                         
Bond Premium Increase 246.52$                                            

Sub Total 8,217.33$                                         

Sub Total 7,608.64$                                         

Subcontractor(s)
GC General Liability

GC Job Overhead Expenses 

DPR

power to (4) doors at Public Works
Subcontractor Description 

Bargeron

Description Subcontractor 
Power and terminations to (3) doors at EMS. Inlcudes back up 
power setup like at Guyton Station #13 (see pics attached)

Bargeron

Description Subcontractor 

Cost Summary 

105

Item XI. 8.



8/7/2023C/O Date:

2

0

PO Box 58
10507 Waycross hwy
Screven, GA 31560

office@bargeronelectriccompnay.comEmail:

Bargeron Electric Company, LLC

(912) 371-0010Phone:

PO Box 903

Bonaire, GA 31005

McWright LLC
EMS - 285 1st St Ext
PW - 321 Hwy 119 S
Springfield, GA 31329

Effingham EMS&PW/Springfield/G

Description Amount

Change Order

Quoted to: Regarding Job:

CommentsC/O Number:

Sequence:

Owner C/O No:

Add 120 volt 20 amp circuit for each of the (4) overhead doors. Including conduit for low voltage wiring to 
sensors.

0.00

Materials 1,350.00

Labor 2,880.00

4,230.00Current Change Order    $

290,235.00Revised Contract    $

Bargeron Electric Company, LLC

McWright LLC

287,200.00Original Contract    $
3,035.00Previous Change Orders     $

294,465.00New Contract Total    $

Authorized by: Date:

Representative: Date:

106

Item XI. 8.



Attn:

Owner CO No:

Change Order

Effingham EMS&PW/Springfield/G
EMS - 285 1st St Ext
PW - 321 Hwy 119 S
Springfield, GA 31329

7

Date: 02/07/24

Internal CO:

Bargeron Electric Company, LLC
PO Box 58
10507 Waycross hwy
Screven, GA 31560

McWright LLC
PO Box 903
Bonaire, GA 31005

Power for Overhead Door at EMS 0.00

Materials 1,015.00

Labor 2,160.00

Accepted Date: Accepted By:

3,175.00

1 of 1

290,375.00

287,200.00

0.00

Total this Change Order:

Original Contract:

Revised Contract to Date:

Previously Approved Change Orders:

Please sign and return a copy as soon as possible 
107

Item XI. 8.



 

 

 

 

  

Below are pics of station #13 that we will copy for the backup power. 

108

Item XI. 8.



 

109

Item XI. 8.



 

110

Item XI. 8.



 

111

Item XI. 8.



P.O. Box 903  Bonaire, GA 31005 478-697-1559 

X
Matthew McMillian
McWright, LLC

 McWright, LLC. 

 
Date: February 8, 2024 
Job: Effingham County EMS and PW 
Address: 285 1st Street Extension Springfield, GA 31329 
Owner: Effingham County Board of Commissioners  
 

 
Change Order Request #8- Extend future conduits at PW      

 
Reference: Owner Request  
 
Scope of Work: 

• Labor and material to extend (8) 2.5” conduits to outside of fenced area and provide a 
marker for future expansion 
 

 
Total Add Price-$5,389.00 
 
 

112

Item XI. 8.



PO Box 903                                             
Boanire, GA 31005                                    
www.mcwrightconstruction.com  

Project:
COR #:
Date:
Description:
Architect:

Notes Price

Notes Price 

Notes Price

Totals Subcontractor(s) Price 4,715.00$                 
0

DPR

extend future conduits past the fence area and provide a marker 
for future expansion

Subcontractor Description 
Bargeron

Description Subcontractor 

Description Subcontractor 

Cost Summary 

GC Fee

Total

4,715.00$                                         
129.66$                                            

-$                                                  

387.57$                                            

5,389.20$                                         
Bond Premium Increase 156.97$                                            

Sub Total 5,232.24$                                         

Sub Total 4,844.66$                                         

Subcontractor(s)
GC General Liability

GC Job Overhead Expenses 

McWright LLC 

4,715.00$                 

Effingham County EMS and PW

2/8/2024
8

Extend PW future conduits

113

Item XI. 8.



Attn:

Owner CO No:

Change Order

Effingham EMS&PW/Springfield/G
EMS - 285 1st St Ext
PW - 321 Hwy 119 S
Springfield, GA 31329

6

Date: 02/07/24

Internal CO:

Bargeron Electric Company, LLC
PO Box 58
10507 Waycross hwy
Screven, GA 31560

McWright LLC
PO Box 903
Bonaire, GA 31005

Public Works Spare Conduit Extend Past Fence(60ft) 0.00

Materails 3,465.00

Labor 1,250.00

Accepted Date: Accepted By:

4,715.00

1 of 1

291,915.00

287,200.00

0.00

Total this Change Order:

Original Contract:

Revised Contract to Date:

Previously Approved Change Orders:

Please sign and return a copy as soon as possible 
114

Item XI. 8.



ELECTRICAL POWER PLAN
SCALE: 3/16" = 1' - 0"

1

E2

XX XXXXXXXXX

X XX X X X X X X X X

X XX X X X X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X
X

X

X
X

8 
FU

TU
R

E 
BA

YS

1

2

3

4

5

25'X40' COVERED AREA
FOR EQUIPMENT

MAINTENCE BUILDING

TENANT TBD
OPEN BAY

PROPOSED CONCRETE PARKING

2 HOUR FIRE WALL

GRAVEL

25'X40' COVERED AREA
FOR EQUIPMENT

6' CHAIN LINK FENCE

GRAVEL

MDP ROOM / I.T.

MOP
SINK

PROVISIONS TO
AC 1/2 OF THIS
OCCUPANCY

FUTURE
RESTROOM

R
ID

G
EL

IN
E

6x6 STEEL COLUMN
AT FRAMING

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

8' 0' 16' 24'8'

IHP-2

OHP-2

OHP-1

OHP-3

CONCRETE
PAD

IHP-1

IHP-3

UH-1

UH-2

T

T

F-4

S

WALL SWITCH/STARTER

F-5

S

PNL AH

PNL BH WH

WH

AL7,9,11

BL7,9,11

A1,3,5

BH1,3,5

NEW 3Ø 277/480 V TRANSFORMERS ON UTILITY POLE.
OR PAD MOUNTED TRANSFORMER
EXACT LOCATION TBD BY OWNER & POWER COMPANY.
EC TO COORDINATE W/ POWER COMP

PNL MDP

BL21

BL19

BL25

BL23

AL14,16AL18,20,22

AL2,4

AL6,8

BL2,4,6

BL8,10,12

AL21

AL23

AL25

AL27

AL29

AL31

AL10,12

BL27
BL14,16

BL29
BL31BL33

GH-5

M

GH-6

M

WALL SWITCH/STARTER

AL24

BL35

2 SETS OF 4 # 350 KCMIL THWN-2 CU
- 3" C EACH SET OR EQUAL AL

EIGHT, 2 1/2" CONDUITS/ WITH PULL STRING
FOR FUTURE BAYS

TWO, 2" CONDUITS W/ PULL STRING TO DATA PROVIDER

4 # 3/0 THWN-2 CU
W/ # 6 CU GRD - 2 1/2" C
OR EQUAL AL

2 SETS OF 4 # 350 KCMIL THWN-2 CU
W/ # 1 CU GRD - 3" C EACH SET

MANUAL TRANSFER SWITCH

PNL AL

PNL BL

GA POWER TRANSITION BOX
W/ CT METER-FINAL LOCATION TBD

45 KVA
X-FORMER

45 KVA
X-FORMER

TO LIFT STATION-
SEE CIVIL PLAN
3# 10 THWN-2-1"
RMC

AH 19,21,23

NEW LIFT STATION
SEE CIVIL PLANS
~ 320' AWAY

12 A E. GRADY STREET
P.O. BOX 1382
912-764-6288

STATESBORO
GEORGIA 30458

www.dprarch.com

COPYRIGHT 2015 - ALL RIGHTS RESERVED
PRINTED OR ELECTRONIC DRAWINGS AND

DOCUMENTATION MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED
IN ANY FORM WITHOUGHT WRITTEN PERMISSION

FROM DPR ARCHITECTURE

SCHEDULE OF REVISIONS

DATE#

PROJECT NUMBER:
PROJECT DATE:

DRAWN BY:
APPROVED BY:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

2025
03-15-23

PU
BL

IC
 W

OR
KS

 C
OM

PL
EX

32
1 

HW
Y 

11
9 

S 
SP

RI
NG

FI
EL

D 
GA

EF
FI

NG
HA

M
 C

OU
NT

Y

2022-105

3604 Wheeler Rd. Suite C·Augusta, GA 30909
706-364-1770·deltaeng.net

SCH
KDG

E2

ELECTRICAL POWER
PLAN

1 ADDED LIFT STATION 7-31-23

1

1

extend 5 foot outside of slab
line and mark per detail

115

Item XI. 8.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEL



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Proposal from Inspire Placemaking Collective, Inc. for a Corridor 

Design Standard 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Development Services 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Proposal from Inspire Placemaking Collective, Inc. for a Corridor 

Design Standard 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Proposal from Inspire 

Placemaking Collective, Inc. for a Corridor Design Standard for two areas in Effingham 

County.  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Development Services Staff requested the proposal from Inspire to prepare 

development and design standards for two corridors in Effingham County; 

Hodgeville Road, and SR 21 from the County Line (Port Wentworth side) through 

Rincon to the Springfield City Limits. 

 This proposal has three phases: 

o Project Area Delineation - $6,440 

o Amendment Preparation and Graphics - $23,190 

o Public Hearings - $4,920 

 Planning Board Meeting (1) 

 County Commission Meeting (1) 

o Total: $34,550.00 

 Inspire is currently working with Development Services staff on the 

Comprehensive Plan and Ordinance updates.   

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Proposal from Inspire Placemaking Collective, Inc. for a Corridor 

Design Standard for a total of $34,550.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Dev. Services, County Manager, P/CP 

Funding Source: Dev.Services Engineering Services, budget amendment may be 

needed 

Attachments: Inspire Proposal 

 

116

Item XI. 9.



 
 
 
 
 
 

Inspire Placemaking Collective Inc  |  100 Core Street, Durham, NC 27703 

January 24, 2024 

 
 
Mr. Steve Candler    Sent Via Email: scandler@effinghamcounty.org 
Director of Development Services 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 South Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

Reference: Effingham County Corridor Standards  

Dear Mr. Candler: 

Inspire Placemaking Collective, Inc. (Inspire) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal for professional 
planning services to prepare development and design standards for the two corridors, locations described in this 
proposal. This will include studying the areas, proposing recommendations, and preparing proposed text and map 
amendments to the County’s regulations. This proposal provides a brief description of our understanding of the 
project, our proposed scope of work, and associated fees.  

This proposal is solely intended for the services described below. Use of this proposal and resulting documents, 
including the final deliverables, is limited to the above referenced project and client. No other use is authorized 
by Inspire. 

Scope of Services 
Inspire proposes to offer the following basic services as part of this proposal. I will be the designated project 
manager for this exciting project. I have approximately 20 years of planning experience, focused primarily on 
ordinance writing, design guidelines, comprehensive planning, development review, and public engagement. 
Our team is made up of professionals in many different areas of planning, landscape architecture, historic 
preservation, and architecture, which helps shape a very comprehensive delivery of services.  

PHASE 1: Project area delineation   

The first phase of the project will include identifying all parcels that should be included within the proposed 
overlay district, as well as the limits of the district. The following tasks will be completed:  

 Identify all parcels to be included within the corridor.  

 Prepare GIS mapping of the specific boundary of the overlay district.  

 Prepare a GIS Map showing the overlay on the zoning map to identify the map amendments; 

 

PHASE 2: Amendment preparation and graphics  

Upon completion of Phase 1, Inspire will prepare a strike through and underlined version of the code 
demonstrating how the proposed changes would be integrated into the ordinance.  This will include creating an 

117

Item XI. 9.



2 

overlay district applicable to both of the corridors with specific development standards. This will include graphics 
depicting the standards for ease of use. It will also include a scenario for blocks within each of the corridors.  
 

 State what sections of the regulations would be amended; 

 Draft amendments 

 Graphics depicting building & site standards 

 One scenario for a block within each of the corridors  

PHASE 3: Public hearings 

Inspire will present the proposed amendments to the Planning Board as well as the County Commission. 

 Planning Board Meeting (1) 

 Town Council Meetings (1) 

  

Schedule  
The following is the proposed schedule: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Fee 
Our professional fee for the above-described services shall be a lump sum of $34,550 to be invoiced on a 
percent complete basis per the following fee schedule. 

PHASE FEE 

PHASE 1: Project area delineation  $6.440 

PHASE 2: Amendment preparation & graphics   $23,190 

PHASE 3: Public hearings   $4,920 

TOTAL  $34,550 

 

118

Item XI. 9.



3 

Included in the above fees are reimbursable expenses incurred on the Project’s behalf, including mileage, 
printing, plotting, photocopies, reproduction, postage, express mail and/or courier services.  

Inspire will bill monthly for all work performed and expenses incurred on the Project's behalf. Unpaid invoices 
after 30 days will accrue service charges at 1 1/2% per month and include any costs of collections and 
reasonable attorney’s fees. 

Should conditions be encountered such that additional services appear to be in the best interest of the project, 
we would contact you with our recommendations prior to proceeding with any services beyond the scope of this 
proposal. We will not exceed this proposal amount without written authorization from you. 

Exclusions 
Without intending to provide an exhaustive list or description of all services or potential services that may be 
required and that Inspire can provide, the following services are specifically excluded from this proposal: 

 Additional meetings 

 Illustrative renderings, other than what has been included  

 3D graphic imagery and perspective renderings, other than what has been included  

 Attendance at meetings beyond those identified. 

 Preparation of schematic site design(s) or alternative analysis. 

 Rendered site plans or exhibits for public, community, or neighborhood meetings. 

Authorization 

Please sign this agreement and return to our office as your authorization of the proposed scope of services and 
the associated fee.  Upon receipt of the signed agreements, we will execute, return a copy to you, and proceed 
with the performance of our services.   

If you choose to accept this proposal by e-mail, your reply e-mail acceptance will serve as your representation to 
Inspire Placemaking Collective that you have reviewed the proposal and the associated Agreement Terms and 
Conditions hereby accept as written. 

Closure 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you. If you have any questions regarding the outlined scope of 
services, or if we may be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

Sincerely, 

Inspire Placemaking Collective, Inc., Inc. 

 

        _______________________________________ 

Sarah Sinatra Gould, AICP, CZO     Mr. Wesley Corbitt, Chairman  DATE 

Principal        Effingham County Board of Commissioners  
    

119

Item XI. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #1 for Platinum Paving and Concrete LLC for the 

FY23/24 LMIG Construction Project 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Change Order #1 for Platinum Paving and Concrete LLC for the 

FY23/24 LMIG Construction Project 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #1 for 

Platinum Paving and Concrete LLC for the FY23/24 LMIG Construction Project 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Roberts Civil Engineering is serving as the design engineer on this project and 

Platinum Paving and Concrete is the contractor.  

 There has been concern regarding the blowing of cement in the Belmont Glen 

subdivision, relating to traffic staging and potential construction impacts to the 

traveling public. After taking additional core samples in three locations along 

Saddleclub Way, Platinum and Roberts, after additional discussion with T&H, 

request this change order for a scope change.  

 This change order will result in a deduction of the contract price in the amount of 

-$61,178.26. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #1 for Platinum Paving and Concrete LLC for the 

FY23/24 LMIG Construction Project for a deduction of the contract price in the 

amount of -$61,178.26. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Engineer, T&H, P/CP 

Funding Source: LMIG 

Attachments: Change Order Request/Documentation 

 

 

 

 

120

Item XI. 10.



Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: FY 23/24 LMIG Construction 

Contract Date: September 1, 2023 

Change Order Effective Date: March 5, 2024 

Change Order Issued to: Platinum Paving and Concrete, LLC 

     

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

1 Change in Scope – Saddleclub Way -$61,178.26 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 TOTAL  

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 4,441,859.03 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 0 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 4,441,859.03 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................-$61,178.26 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 4,380,680.77 

The Contract Time will be increased by 0 days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore May 27, 2024 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Platinum Paving and Concrete, LLC 

804 S. Laurel Street     11 Gateways Blvd South, Suite 44 

Springfield, GA 31329     Savannah, GA 31419 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

121

Item XI. 10.



Original Bid Price

j l*.i:i.ic i L).'il:ii)- . . :.1 i'- i -

it,L...li\;i, I Li\ :P,-: : :t::
l()\ \:;: a:.\::\t :Rl-\i I .,1 : tf l '-

i Pt)1 ; " . r.1,; ( :- \:l -\ , .l ::. I : rl , -l:i. ,l .l ! i:rr,ir:. . .,

;-L:( 1.r -:) .\sPii r. ll\l : I :lll\: \, l-::iP \',. : :t l\1 'l :i,,ri l l.ti- .

i( 0\( l. '--t.-i rr (i;- 1l i-L i' li l-:ii ;',', 1 i: l\l :

i\{). i l'q'-rrrl( qiRiPil : \.\':.i:,:la.:

ll. \i!:i/ \':- - '-r:.:,
j'l

s .il 2.s0".:6

122

Item XI. 10.



Platinum Paving and Concrete  

11 Gateway Blvd South, Suite 44  

Savannah, GA 31419 

PROPOSAL AND CONTRACT 
 

 

 
 

January 31, 2024 
 

Hayden Rozier 
Project Manager 
O: 912.438.8619 

M: 912.240-0130  

OUR LOCATIONS 
 

 

  
 
RE:  Effingham LMIG Saddle Club Way, Scope of Work Change Request for Pricing 
 
Mr. Rozier, 
 
Platinum Paving and Concrete is pleased to provide the following pricing for the above referenced project. 
 
 

 
 
 
 In an effort to provide the most cost-effective proposal for the work, directed by Roberts Civil Engineering, 
Platinum Paving and Concrete, LLC (PPC) offers the above pricing as directed. Platinum believes this is the best 
course of action for the areas described above; however, PPC takes no responsibility for the structural design of the 
proposed change in scope of work. 
 
 But, PPC does believe for the safety of all stakeholders, the CTB as bid option is not the best scope for this 
highly densified residential application. Unit pricing applies, as always for installed units. 
 
 Please let PPC know if additional information is needed, and we look forward to this project’s success. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

Robert B. Royal 

 
Robert B. Royal 
Vice President 
Platinum Paving and Concrete, LLC 
 
CC: Josh Reynolds, Chris Boswell, Eli Cousins, Jarrid Ferbert 

123

Item XI. 10.

https://robertscivilengineering.com/contact/
https://robertscivilengineering.com/contact/


Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Contract 23-ITB-040 with McWright LLC for the Construction of 

the Administrative Building Expansion/Renovation 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: County Manager 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Contract 23-ITB-040 with McWright LLC for the Construction of the 

Administrative Building Expansion/Renovation 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of Contract 23-ITB-040 with 

McWright LLC for the Construction of the Administrative Building Expansion/Renovation 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Effingham County posted an ITB to five (5) Contractors that were selected 

through the RFQu (Request for Qualifications) process. Three (3) bids were 

received via the OpenGov portal: 

o McWright LLC - $3,317,000.00 

o Paul S. Akins Company, Inc. - $3,354,586.00 

o Lavender & Associates, Inc. - $3,657,250.00 

 After a review by Greenline Architects (designer for the project), Albeck Group 

(program management), and staff, all recommend award to McWright LLC.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Contract 23-ITB-040 with McWright LLC for the Construction of the 

Administrative Building Expansion/Renovation in the amount of $3,317,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Engineer, Albeck/Greenline, P/CP 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments:  

1. Draft Contract 

2. Tabulation 

 

 

 

 

124

Item XI. 11.



 

23-ITB-040 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX ADDITION AND RENOVATION 

CONSTRUCTION 

 

 

Effingham County 

804 S Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 

 

125

Item XI. 11.



Effingham County 

INVITATION FOR BID 

23-ITB-040 

Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

I. AGREEMENT  ........................................................................................ 
 

 

Attachments: 

A - McWright Tabluation 

  

126

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

3 

 

1. AGREEMENT 

1.1. AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR FOR CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT 

23-ITB-040Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

  

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between Effingham County Board of Commissioners (“Owner”) and 

McWright LLC (“Contractor”). 

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

  

1.2. Article 1 - WORK 

Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is 

generally described as follows: 

The Work of the Project consists of selective demolition/renovation and a two-story building addition to 

the existing County building at 802 S. Laurel Street. The two-story addition is approximately 10,660 SF. 

Additional work consists of reconfigured enhanced exterior patio and landscaped areas, a new parking 

lot and reconfiguration of the existing parking lot. 

 

The Project for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part is 

generally described as follows: 23-ITB-040, Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation 

Construction 

1.3. Article 2 - ENGINEER 

2.01. The Project has been designed by Effingham County Engineering Department’s 

Consultant, Greenline Architecture, which is to act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and 

responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to A/E in the Contract Documents in 

connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

1.4. Article 3 - CONTRACT TIMES 

3.01. Time of the Essence 

All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final 

payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 

3.02. Days to Achieve Completion and Final Payment 

The Work will be completed within 10 months from receipt of a Notice Proceed. 

1.5. Article 4 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

4.01. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in preceding Paragraph and 

that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified in Paragraph 

127

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

4 

 

above, plus any extensions thereof allowed. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and 

difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration preceding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the 

Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor 

agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), Contractor shall pay Owner $500 for 

each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph above entitled "Contract Times" for 

Completion until the Work is complete. 

1.6. Article 5 - CONTRACT PRICE 

Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an 

amount in current funds equal to $3,317,000.00, an amount determined pursuant to the fee proposal 

submitted by the Contractor for 23-ITB-040. 

1.7. Article 6 - PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

6.01. Submittal and Processing of Payments 

Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with the General Conditions. 

Applications for Payment will be processed by A/E as provided in the General Conditions. 

6.02. Progress Payments; Retainage 

A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor’s 

Applications for Payment on or about the 25th day of each month during performance of the Work as 

provided in the following section 6.02.A.1 immediately following as long as the pay request is received 

by the 1st of the month. All such payments will be measured based on the number of units completed 

times the unit price of each completed unit. 

     1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the 

percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less 

such amounts as A/E may determine or Owner may withhold, including but not limited to liquidated 

damages, in accordance with Paragraph 4.01 above, titled Liquidated Damages. 

          a. 95 percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage). The County will retain 5% of 

the gross value of the completed work as indicated by the current estimate approved by the A/E; and 

          b. 95 percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the balance 

being retainage). 

B. Upon Substantial Completion, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to 

Contractor to 100 percent of the Work completed, less such amounts as Engineer shall determine and 

less 150 percent of A/E’s estimate of the value of Work to be completed or corrected as shown on the 

tentative list of items to be completed or corrected. 

6.03. Final Payment 

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract 

Price as recommended by A/E. 

1.8. Article 7 - INTEREST 

7.01. All moneys not paid when due as provided in The General Conditions and Paragraph 6.02 above, 

shall bear interest at the rate of 1 percent per annum. 

128

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

5 

 

  

1.9. Article 8 - CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 

8.01. In order to induce Owner to enter into this Agreement, Contractor makes the following 

representations: 

     A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data 

identified in the Bidding Documents. 

     B. Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, 

and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

     C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations 

that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

     D. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor; information commonly known to 

contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits 

to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings identified in the Contract 

Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, 

progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, including any specific means, methods, 

techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Contract Documents; 

and (3) Contractor’s safety precautions and programs. Based on the information and observations 

referred to above, Contractor does not consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, 

tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the 

Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

     E. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site 

that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 

     F. Contractor has given A/E written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that 

Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by A/E is 

acceptable to Contractor. 

     G. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms 

and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

1.10. Article 9 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

9.01. Contents 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 

 

1. This Agreement, all pages inclusive 

2. General Conditions, as listed in 23-ITB-040 document 

3. Supplemental Conditions, as listed in 23-ITB-040 document 

4. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 

5. Addenda numbers 1 to 2, inclusive 

6. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 

     a. Contractor’s Bid. 

     b. Documentation submitted by Contractor prior to Notice of Award. 

7. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and 

are not attached hereto: 

129

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

6 

 

     a. Notice of Award . 

     b. Notice to Proceed. 

     c. Work Change Directives. 

     d. Change Orders. 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted 

otherwise above). 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this CONTRACTS DOCUMENTS 

section. 

D. The Contract Documents may be amended to provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in the 

Work or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by either a Change Order or a Work Change 

Directive. 

E. The requirements of the Contract Documents may be supplemented, and minor variations and 

deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the following ways: 

     A Field Order;  

          1. A/E’s approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample; or  

          2. A/E’s written interpretation or clarification. 

1.11. Article 10 - COUNTY’S RIGHT TO SUSPEND OR TERMINATE WORK 

A. Termination for Convenience. County may, for its own convenience and at its sole option, without 

cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of County, elect to terminate the Contract by 

delivering to the Contractor, at the address listed for giving notices in this Contract, a written notice of 

termination specifying the effective date of termination. Such notice shall be delivered to Contractor at 

least seven (7) days prior to the effective date of termination. 

 

B. Termination for Default. If the Contractor is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, or if he makes a general 

assignment for the benefit of his creditors, or if a trustee or receiver is appointed for the Contractor or 

for any of his property, or if he files a petition to take advantage of any debtor’s act or to reorganize 

under the bankruptcy or applicable laws, or if he fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 

materials or equipment, make payments to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or equipment, or if he 

disregards laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having jurisdiction of the 

Work, or if he otherwise violates any provision of the Contract, then the County may, without prejudice 

to any other right or remedy, and after giving the Contractor and his surety a maximum of seven (7) days 

from delivery of a written notice, declare the Contract in default and terminate this Contract. In that 

event, the County may take possession of the Project and of all materials, equipment, tools, 

construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor. The County may cause the 

Work to be completed and corrected by whatever method it deems expedient. If called upon by the 

County to finish the Work, the Contractor’s surety shall promptly do so. In any case, the Contractor and 

its surety shall be liable to the County for any and all damages and costs incurred by the County as a 

result of any default by the Contractor, including without limitation all costs of completion or correction 

of the Work, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees, expert fees, and other costs of dispute resolution. 

Termination of this Contract pursuant to this paragraph may result in disqualification of the Contractor 

from bidding on future County contracts for a period of time not to exceed five (5) years. 

130

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

7 

 

 

C. If Contractor’s services are terminated by the County pursuant to paragraph A or B above, the 

termination will not affect any rights or remedies of the County then existing or which may thereafter 

accrue against Contractor or its surety. Any retention or payment of moneys due Contractor by County 

will not release Contractor from liability. If it is determined that the Contractor was not in default or that 

the failure to perform is excusable, a termination for default will be considered to have been a 

termination for the convenience of the County, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be 

governed accordingly. 

 

D. In case of termination of this Contract before completion of the Work, Contractor will be paid only for 

materials and equipment accepted by the County and the portion of the Work satisfactorily performed 

through the effective date of termination as determined by the County. 

E. Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, neither party shall be entitled to recover lost profits, 

special, consequential or punitive damages, attorney’s fees or costs from the other party to this 

Contract for any reason whatsoever. 

 

F. The parties’ obligations pursuant to this Contract shall survive any Acceptance of Work, or expiration 

or termination of this Contract. 

1.12. Article 11 - INDEMNIFICATION 

The CONTRACTOR agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Effingham County, Georgia, 

its commissioners, officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, damages, 

claims, suits, liens, and judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or 

indemnification, for injuries to or death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other 

rights of any person or persons caused by or resulting from the negligence, recklessness, or intentionally 

wrongful conduct of the CONTRACTOR or other persons or entities employed or utilized by the 

CONTRACTOR in the performance of the contract. The CONTRACTOR'S obligation to protect, defend, 

indemnify, and hold harmless, as set forth herein above shall include, but not be limited to, any matter 

arising out of any actual or alleged infringement of any patent, trademark, copyright, or service mark, or 

any actual or alleged unfair competition, disparagement of product or service, or other business tort of 

any type whatsoever, or any actual or alleged violation of trade regulations. CONTRACTOR further 

agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless Effingham County, Georgia, at his sole expense, and agrees to bear all other costs and 

expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or fraudulent, including 

any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act arising out of 

injuries sustained by any employee of the CONTRACTOR or his subcontractors or anyone directly or 

indirectly employed by any of them. The CONTRACTOR'S obligation to indemnify Effingham County 

under this Section shall not be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and 

amount of coverage provided by any insurance maintained by the CONTRACTOR. 

 

131

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

8 

 

1.13. Article 12 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

Contractor hereby covenants and declares that it is an independent business and agrees to perform the 

Work as an independent contractor and not as the agent or employee of the County. The Contractor 

agrees to be solely responsible for its own matters relating to the time and place the services are 

performed; the instrumentalities, tools, supplies, and/or materials necessary to complete the Work; 

hiring of consultants, agents, or employees to complete the Work; and the payment of employees, 

including compliance with Social Security, withholding, and all other regulations governing such matters. 

The Contractor agrees to be solely responsible for its own acts and those of its subordinates and 

subcontractors during the life of this Contract. Any provisions of this Contract that may appear to give 

the County the right to direct Contractor as to the details of the services to be performed by Contractor 

or to exercise control over such services will be deemed to mean that Contractor shall follow the 

directions of the County with regard to the results of such services. 

1.14. Article 13 - MISCELLANEOUS 

13.01. Terms 

     A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the 

Supplementary Conditions. 

 

13.02. Assignment of Contract 

     A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on 

another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound;  

 

     B. and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become due and moneys that are due 

may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be 

limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, 

no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract 

Documents. 

13.03. Successors and Assigns 

     A. County and Contractor each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives 

to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all 

covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

13.04. Severability 

     A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law 

or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and 

binding upon County and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to 

replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as 

close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

13.05. Contractor’s Certifications 

     A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in 

competing for or in executing the Contract. For the purposes of this Paragraph 13.05: 

          1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value likely to 

132

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

9 

 

influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract execution; 

          2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the 

bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of County, (b) to establish Bid or 

Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive County of the benefits of free and 

open competition; 

          3. "collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or 

without the knowledge of County, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at artificial, non-

competitive levels; and 

          4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or 

their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the 

Contract. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, County and Contractor have signed this Agreement. Counterparts have been 

delivered to County and Contractor. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or have 

been identified by County and Contractor or on their behalf. 

 

 

 

This Agreement will be effective on ____________________ (which is the Effective Date of the 

Agreement).  

 

COUNTY: 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

  

 

By:  _______________________________ 

Title: Chairman 

  

  

Attest: _______________________________ 

Title: County Clerk 

Address for giving notices: 

804 S. Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 

 

 

 

133

Item XI. 11.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-040 
Title: Administrative Complex Addition and Renovation Construction 

10 

 

 

CONTRACTOR: 

 

________________________________________ 

  

By:  __________________________________ 

Title:__________________________________ 

 (If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.) 

  

Attest: __________________________________ 

Title: __________________________________ 

  

Address for giving notices: 

 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

  

 

134

Item XI. 11.



McWright LLC

Line Item Description UOM Unit Cost

1 Demolition LS $75,000.00

2 Site Work & Exterior Improvements LS $448,500.00

3 Concrete LS $85,000.00

4 Masonry LS $110,000.00

5 Metals LS $30,000.00

6 Carpentry LS $270,000.00

7 Thermal & Water Protection LS $176,450.00

8 Doors & Windows LS $162,000.00

9 Finishes LS $310,000.00

10 Specialties LS $63,000.00

11 Equipment LS $0.00

12 Furnishings LS $62,550.00

13 Plumbing LS $127,000.00

14 HVAC LS $402,000.00

15 Electrical LS $268,050.00

16 Utilities LS $272,000.00

17

Allowance #1 (Quantity Allowance: Include 

100 cu. Yd. of unsatisfactory soil) LS $3,000.00

18

Allowance #2 (Quantity Allowance: Include 

100 cu. Yd. of structural fill) LS $4,000.00

19

Allowance #3 (Quantity Allowance: Include 

50 cu. Yd. of structural fill) LS $2,000.00

20 Allowance #4 (Door Hardware) LS $39,950.00

21 Allowance #5 (Monument Sign) LS $7,500.00

22 General Conditions LS $188,000.00

23 Construction Fee LS $211,000.00

Total $3,317,000.00

135

Item XI. 11.



Lavender & 

Associates, Inc.
McWright LLC

Paul S. Akins 

Company, Inc.

Line Item Description UOM Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost

1 Demolition LS $60,000.00 $75,000.00 $46,920.00

2 Site Work & Exterior Improvements LS $775,000.00 $448,500.00 $550,176.00

3 Concrete LS $67,000.00 $85,000.00 $95,541.00

4 Masonry LS $65,000.00 $110,000.00 $66,403.00

5 Metals LS $35,000.00 $30,000.00 $26,061.00

6 Carpentry LS $290,000.00 $270,000.00 $185,233.00

7 Thermal & Water Protection LS $152,000.00 $176,450.00 $162,148.00

8 Doors & Windows LS $128,000.00 $162,000.00 $153,441.00

9 Finishes LS $370,000.00 $310,000.00 $338,499.00

10 Specialties LS $60,000.00 $63,000.00 $54,588.00

11 Equipment LS $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00

12 Furnishings LS $100,000.00 $62,550.00 $53,550.00

13 Plumbing LS $128,000.00 $127,000.00 $124,230.00

14 HVAC LS $415,000.00 $402,000.00 $407,260.00

15 Electrical LS $400,000.00 $268,050.00 $354,492.00

16 Utilities LS $78,000.00 $272,000.00 $81,600.00

17
Allowance #1 (Quantity Allowance: Include 

100 cu. Yd. of unsatisfactory soil)
LS $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $3,300.00

18
Allowance #2 (Quantity Allowance: Include 

100 cu. Yd. of structural fill)
LS $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $4,950.00

19
Allowance #3 (Quantity Allowance: Include 

50 cu. Yd. of structural fill)
LS $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,475.00

20 Allowance #4 (Door Hardware) LS $54,750.00 $39,950.00 $54,750.00

21 Allowance #5 (Monument Sign) LS $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00

22 General Conditions LS $200,000.00 $188,000.00 $274,000.00

23 Construction Fee LS $262,000.00 $211,000.00 $307,469.00

Total $3,657,250.00 $3,317,000.00 $3,354,586.00

136

Item XI. 11.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Proposal from Raftelis for a Rate and Financial Planning Study 

Author: Alison Bruton, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: County Manager/Finance 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Proposal from Raftelis for a Rate and Financial Planning Study 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Proposal from 

Raftelis for a Rate and Financial Planning Study 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff requested a proposal from Raftelis for a Rate and Financial Planning Study. 

Utility rate and financial planning is one of Raftelis’ core practice areas, and they 

have provided similar services to numerous utilities in Georgia and across the 

country. The financial planning model they will develop can be used by the 

County to determine future rate adjustments and can be leveraged for future rate 

and financial planning analyses. 

 There are 7 tasks associated with this proposal: 

o Task 1 – Project Initiation and Management 

o Task 2 – Data Collection and Review  

o Task 3 – Financial Plan Development 

o Task 4 – Financial Forecast  

o Task 5 – Rate Structure Review 

o Task 6 – Review Upfront Charges 

o Task 7 – Preparation of Reports and Presentation of Study Results 

 The total for this proposal is $50,000.00. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Proposal from Raftelis for a Rate and Financial Planning Study for a 

total of $50,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Finance, County Manager, P/CP 

Funding Source: Dept 111 Consulting, budget amendment may be necessary. 

Attachments: Proposal 

 

 

 

137

Item XI. 12.



 RAFTELIS 1 

 
 

 

 

January 10, 2024 

 

Mr. Tim Callanan  

County Manager 

Effingham County, GA 

480 Edsel Drive, Suite 100 

Richmond Hill, GA 31324 

 

 

Subject: Rate and Financial Planning Study   

 

Raftelis is pleased to submit this statement of qualifications to develop a rate and financial planning study for Effingham 

County, GA (the “County”) Department of Water Resources.  We appreciate the opportunity to submit this proposal, 

which describes our approach to meeting the County’s objectives.  

 

Raftelis was established in Charlotte, NC in 1993 to provide financial, rate, and management consulting services of the 

highest quality to water sector utilities. Raftelis now has the largest and most experienced utility financial and 

management consulting practice in the country, with more than 170 consultants specializing in these services. Our staff 

has provided rate and/or financial planning assistance to thousands of utilities across the United States.  

 

Utility rate and financial planning is one of Raftelis’ core practice areas, and we have provided similar services to 

numerous utilities in Georgia and across the country. Over the past decade, Raftelis has completed hundreds of long-term 

financial models for clients which has supported raising billions in capital. Each of these engagements involved working 

with the finance team in a collaborative effort to address the development of the long-term financial model.  Our work 

products are recognized for their consistent quality and objectivity. The financial planning model that we will develop can 

be used by the County to determine future rate adjustments and can be leveraged for future rate and financial planning 

analyses.  

 

We are proud of the resources that we can offer and welcome the opportunity to be of assistance to the County on this 

project. Should you have any questions regarding our submittal, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

    
Bart Kreps    Chad Cowan 

Executive Vice President  Senior Manager 
bkreps@raftelis.com   ccowan@raftelis.com 

704.936.4483    980.221.9461 

 

138

Item XI. 12.

mailto:bkreps@raftelis.com
mailto:ccowan@raftelis.com


 RAFTELIS 2 

 

Approach & 
Understanding 
The scope of services requested by the County involves activities associated with the preparation of a financial forecast to 

assist the County with its long-term financial planning process.  Raftelis’ main tasks will be to develop a financial 

planning model that incorporates customer data, operating costs, and financing of a capital improvement plan and that 

projects water and sewerage rates including wholesale, industrial and water reuse fees, such that a five-year forecast of 

debt service coverage and reserve fund levels can be produced. 

Task 1: Project Initiation and Management 

The project team will conduct a kick-off meeting (virtually) with County staff to confirm the project approach, work plan, 

schedule, priorities and determine the project’s goals and expectations. It will be important to establish a calendar for 

meetings and due dates for various aspects of the project including coordination on meeting dates and the distribution of 

drafts of the financial model and any required final reports. This task also addresses the level of effort required throughout 

the project to coordinate project activities with other members of the team to ensure that all tasks are completed in a 

timely and efficient manner.  

Task 2: Data Collection and Review 

A significant amount of information and background data will be needed to develop the model and prepare the report. 

Raftelis will prepare a data request list to submit to the County and the list will include information related to operating 

expenses, capital projects, revenues from rates, fees, and other sources, the number and types of accounts, and billable 

flows for the utility. We will thoroughly review the data as it is critical to appropriately use the most accurate data 

possible and work closely with County staff to ensure that we all agree on the intended use of what is being provided. 

Even though we may request additional data or clarification as the study progresses, we will minimize the additional data 

requests based on effort required to provide the data with the relative impact it has on the analysis.  

Task 3: Financial Plan Development 

The primary objective of this task is to prepare a multi-year financial forecast for the water and sewer utilities. The 

projections of revenues and debt service coverage, as well as the analysis and description of operating trends, customer 

usage, and rate projections, requires the development of a financial planning model. The model will focus on developing 

a five-year projection of total revenue requirements, or cash needs, which will be based on detailed budget and cost 

information.  

 

139

Item XI. 12.



 RAFTELIS 3 

 

Projection of Revenues  

Raftelis will use the County’s most recent detailed water and sewer budget and then project each line item using various 

escalation factors, which will be developed with County staff input as well as a review of historical data. The model will 

incorporate all existing debt issues as well as expected financing scenarios for the capital improvement plan (e.g., PayGo, 

reserve-funded capital expenditures, State Revolving Fund Loans, SPLOST, Grants and future Revenue Bonds, etc.).  

 

We will then use the County’s current water and sewerage rate structures and projected water/sewerage rates to estimate 

the revenues generated from user rates and charges over the forecast period. To project revenues, we will use detailed 

customer information such as the number of customers by class and meter size and water flow by customer class. We will 

also ask for historical data to project future water/wastewater demands. Projected customer demand will then be applied 

to water/sewerage rates to determine revenues. The financial planning model will be set up so that percentage changes 

can be applied to base charges and volumetric rates independently as well as separately for water and sewerage. The 

projections will assume the existing rate structures remain in place, but rates will be set so that the enterprise’s annual 

cash needs are met, including sufficient debt service coverage ratios and reserve fund balances. We will also evaluate 

revenues from other sources, such as miscellaneous fees, penalties, connection fees, etc. that, depending on specifications 

in the County’s Bond Resolution, if applicable, may be available for calculating debt service coverage.  

 

The financial planning model will focus on providing the flexibility to change key assumptions related to customer 

growth, water and sewerage usage trends, and the timing and amount of future capital investments and associated debt 

service to determine the impact on customers, overall financial condition, and key metrics for debt service coverage and 

liquidity (reserves). The financial planning model will be developed in Excel and will be a formal deliverable provided to 

the County at the end of the engagement. While the financial planning model will not be designed to calculate cost-

justified rates and charges based on detailed cost-of-service analyses, the financial planning model will already house 

detailed information on the County’s water and sewer budget, revenues, and customer data that can be leveraged by the 

County to perform cost-of-service-based allocations and evaluate alternative rate designs in the future.  

 

Development of Revenue Requirements 
140

Item XI. 12.



 RAFTELIS 4 

The revenue requirement represents the overall level of revenue necessary to fund operations and maintenance expenses 

(O&M), routine repair and replacement capital expenditures, and repayment of debt service (current and future) while 

maintaining compliance with bond ordinances and achieving the financial management objectives. Determining the 

revenue requirement involves a detailed cash flow forecast, which compares projected baseline revenues to projected 

expenditures and identifies any adjustments to revenues that may be necessary to fund utility operations in a financially 

sustainable manner such as the following: 

 

• Projection of O&M Expenses: Water and sewer budgets will serve as the starting point for the projection of O&M 

expenses. We will prepare a projection of operation and maintenance expenses and non-operating expenses. To 

project these expenses, we may need to account for adjustments for expected future changes in O&M expenses 

such as adding new personnel or programs that are not currently captured in the existing budgets or one-time 

expenses, which are not expected to be incurred in the future. Inflationary adjustments account for expected 

future inflation in O&M expenses after accounting for budget performance and any incremental expenses. We 

will work closely with County staff to reasonably project the costs, especially with the current impact of high 

inflation rates.  

 

• Projection of Routine and Major Capital Expenditures and Financing: The cash flow impact of routine and major 

capital expenditures is dependent on the County’s capital improvement plan (CIP) and the approach to financing 

it. This step involves developing a financing plan that identifies the County’s water and sewer capital projects 

(routine and major) and the mix of cash and debt used to finance them. The model will incorporate all existing 

debt issues as well as expected financing scenarios for the capital improvement plan (e.g., PayGo, reserve-funded 

capital expenditures, future revenue bonds, and other financing sources). The future debt service, as well as the 

impact on the bond covenants, will be accounted for in the projections and will inform the revenue adjustments. 

Task 4: Financial Forecast 

Based on the data collected in Task 3, we will develop a detailed cash flow forecast that will compare projected revenues 

to forecast revenue requirements. We will discuss existing financial policies and objectives (formal and informal) and 

evaluate the performance of the utility relative to key financial ratios (e.g., days cash, capital structure, and debt service 

coverage).  

 

This forecast will be a key product of the financial planning model and will be formatted to show a forecast of revenues, 

expenses, debt service, and debt service coverage consistent with the specific definitions and requirements identified in the 

trust indenture or bond order, if needed. Adjustments to net income will be identified to determine income available for 

debt service (for calculating the debt service coverage ratios for each year in the forecast period), consistent with the 

specific requirements identified in the legal documents authorizing the debt.  

 

Raftelis will conduct an on-site meeting with County staff to review the draft financial forecast.  

Task 5: Rate Structure Review 

We will evaluate the County’s current water and sewer rate structure with specific focus on its industrial rate as well as 

development of a potential wholesale rate and water re-use rate. It is our understanding the County serves a large 

industrial customer that currently pays only the cost of potable water provided by the City of Savannah. The County 

wishes to examine the additional transmission related costs associated with providing service to the industry and ensure 

its industrial rate equitably recovers this cost. We also understand the County is considering the construction of a water 

re-use line from its wastewater treatment facility that will serve the same industrial customer. If constructed, the County 

will need to develop a separate water re-use rate for this type of service. Additionally, the County is contemplating 

providing wholesale services to several new customers and needs to establish a wholesale rate.  

141

Item XI. 12.



 RAFTELIS 5 

Task 6: Review Upfront Charges 

Raftelis will evaluate the County’s existing upfront fees assessed to new customers connecting to the water and sewer 

system. Our review will consider the cost basis and methodologies used to assess any current fees, to ensure they 

equitably recover appropriate levels of costs and are consistent with industry guidelines and state legislation. The type of 

calculation methodology used will depend on the specific fee and the intended cost recovery. For example, capacity fees 

are one-time charges assessed to new water and sewer customers to recover a proportional share of capital costs incurred 

to provide service availability and capacity for new customers. There are several accepted methodologies used to calculate 

capacity fees that consider either historical capital investments, future capital improvements, or a combination of the two. 

Tap fees are typically associated with recovering costs associated with the physical connection to the utility system.  

Calculation methodologies typically include a build-up of labor, material, and equipment costs associated with 

connecting a customer to the system. We will work with County staff and provide recommendations on the most 

appropriate upfront fee structure.  

 

Task 7: Preparation of Reports and Presentation of Study Results 

Raftelis will develop and provide the County a draft report that describes the study process along with recommendations. 

The draft report will be submitted to County staff for review and comment. Comments and revisions will be incorporated 

before finalizing the report. A final report will be delivered to the County, which can be used at the County’s discretion. 

Raftelis can also be available to present study results to elected officials. We have assumed one presentation in this scope 

of services.  

 

Qualifications and Commitment 

Our project approach described here is based on about 30 years of successful engagements to help utilities located 

throughout the United States set rates and address other financial planning issues. Our work products are familiar to the 

various parties involved in providing public finance support for utilities, which has allowed us to successfully provide 

planning tools for numerous clients. Furthermore, Raftelis’ status as a registered Municipal Advisor further demonstrates 

our proactive efforts and commitment to providing the highest level of support and assistance to our clients, particularly 

as it relates to debt issuance support services. As a registered Municipal Advisor firm, Raftelis has a legal fiduciary duty, 

and a duty of care and loyalty, to look after the best interests of our clients, providing an extra level of assurance to the 

County.  

Proposed Fee 

We propose to complete the scope of work as detailed in this engagement letter for a lump sum amount of $50,000. It is 

our practice to bill monthly based on the percent of the project complete. Total fees and expenses will be limited to the 

lump sum amount unless specific approval for an adjustment in scope is received from the County.   

 

 

 

______________________________   

Wesley Corbitt, Chairman  

 

 

________________ 

Date Approved 

 

 
142

Item XI. 12.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    FY 2024 Budget Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 3/5/24 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval of an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year the Board of Commissioners proposes a tentative budget. During the year, 

the Board receives requests from agencies and department heads to adjust the budget. 

Additionally, other factors, such as revenue, may fluctuate thereby allowing the Board to 

direct that additional expenditures be made. Therefore, a formal budget resolution 

incorporating these factors is made to adjust the budget accordingly.  

 

Background: 

Georgia Law 6-81-3. Requires the establishment of fiscal year; requirement of annual 
balanced budget; adoption of budget ordinances or resolutions generally; budget 
amendments; uniform chart of accounts. Section (b)(1) notes that each unit of local 
government shall adopt and operate under an annual balanced budget for the general 
fund, each special revenue fund, and each debt service fund in use by the local 
government. The annual balanced budget shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution 
and administered in accordance with this article. 
 
  
The budget amendment attached reflects the following changes: 

1. Allocating opioid settlement funds towards ECSO’s purchase of naloxone.  
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the resolution to amend the budget for FY 2024.  
2. Do not approve the resolution. 

3. Provide staff with direction. 

4.  

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the resolution to amend the budget 

for FY 2024. 

 

Other Alternatives:  

N/A  

143

Item XI. 13.



 

Department Review:  

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Fund Balance 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2024 budget amendment resolution 

144

Item XI. 13.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
           Resolution# ____________ 

 

State of Georgia 

County of Effingham 

 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE FY 2024 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, the FY 2024 budget of Effingham County was adopted on June 6th, 2023 

and; WHEREAS, it is necessary to further amend said budget to reflect desired changes and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County Effingham, 

Georgia that the following amendment be made: 

  

 
 
 

This amendment allocates funding for ECSO operating supplies for naloxone resupply. 

 
 Approved this _____ day of ___________   2024. 
 
Attest: 
 
 
                                          
Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk   Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman  

DEPT DEPT NAME ACCT NAME ACCT NO. TYPE AMOUNT DESCRIPTION

017 ECSO OPERATING SUPPLIES 100-3310-017-53-1102 EXP 14000.00 allocate funds for ECSO naloxone purchase

017 ECSO CASH CARRY FORWARD 100-38-9015 FB -14000.00 allocate opioid settlement funds for naloxone

0.00 net entries

145

Item XI. 13.



Staff Report 
 
Subject:  Intergovernmental Agreement Between City of Guyton, City of  
   Rincon, City of Springfield and the Board of Commissioners of 
   Effingham County for the 2023 TSPLOST Bond Distribution 
Author:  Tim Callanan, County Manager 
Department:  County Manager 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Consideration to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Cities of 
Guyton, Rincon and Springfield regarding TSPLOST Bonds collection, distribution, and management. 
 
Summary Recommendation:  On August 15, 2023, Effingham County entered into an Intergovernmental 
Agreement with the municipalities (Guyton, Rincon and Springfield) to collect 1% sales tax (TSPLOST) to be 
used for expanding and improving roads, drainage and pedestrian infrastructure.  On November 7, 2023 the 
results of the referendum were in favor of the imposition of the tax and the issuance of up to $60,000,000 of 
general obligation bonds of Effingham County.   
 
Executive Summary/Background: 

• The distribution will be based on population by the most recent decennial census. 
• Guyton’s bond allocation will be $2,118,000.00 
• Rincon’s bond allocation will be $10,128,000.00 
• Springfield’s bond allocation will be $2,508,000.00 
• Effingham’s bond allocation will be $45,246,000.00 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the IGA between Effingham County and the Cities of Guyton, Rincon and Springfield. 
2. Do not approve the proposed agreement. 
3. Provide Staff with direction. 

 
Recommended Alternative: 
Staff recommends alternative 1 – Approve the IGA between Effingham County and the Cities of Guyton, 
Rincon and Springfield. 
 
Other Alternatives:  
None 
 
Department Review: (list departments) 
County Attorney, County Manager 
 
Funding Source: 
The entire cost is being covered by a transportation special purpose local option sale tax on county sales. 
 
Attachments: 
Intergovernmental Agreement Between the City of Guyton and the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
Intergovernmental Agreement Between the City of Rincon and the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
Intergovernmental Agreement Between the City of Springfield and the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

146

Item XI. 14.



147

Item XI. 14.



148

Item XI. 14.



149

Item XI. 14.



150

Item XI. 14.



151

Item XI. 14.



152

Item XI. 14.



153

Item XI. 14.



154

Item XI. 14.



155

Item XI. 14.



156

Item XI. 14.



157

Item XI. 14.



158

Item XI. 14.



 

 

Staff Report 
Subject:   City of Springfield Annexation - Map# 389 Parcel# 23 and Map# 390 

Parcel# 18B, 20 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration to acknowledge a Petition for Annexation as submitted by the 

City of Springfield for properties consisting of approximately 65.70 acres located at Webb and 

McCall Roads Map# 389 Parcel# 23 and Map# 390 Parcel# 18B, 20. 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

According to an aerial photography provided by Effingham County GIS data, this parcel is 

contiguous with other properties within the city limits of Springfield.  
 

Executive Summary: 

As required under state law O.C.G.A §36-36-6 upon accepting an application for annexation or a 

petition for annexation, the governing authority of the annexing municipality shall provide written 

notice to the governing authority of the county where the proposed annexation is located.  

 

A public hearing of the City of Springfield’s Planning & Zoning Board and the Mayor and City 

Council will be held March 19, 2024, at 6:00 pm to consider this petition. Said property is currently 

zoned AR-1 and AR-2, proposed zoning upon annexation will be AR-1 and R-1. 
 

Background: 

Annexation documentation was received via hand delivered mail from the City of Springfield. These 

parcels identified as Map# 389 Parcel# 23 (owned by Vitor Batista) consisting of 2.037 acres, 

Map# 390 Parcel# 18B (owned by Jason & Jincy Hinley) consisting of 15.97 acres and Map# 390 

Parcel# 20 (owned by Burns Brothers Investments, LLC.) consisting of approximately 47.69 acres. 

These properties are within the City of Springfield’s water and sewer service area. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Acknowledge the Petition Requesting Annexation as presented by the City of Springfield 
2. Do not approve the Petition Requesting Annexation. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff leaves the decision to the Board’s discretion.   
 

Other Alternatives: N/A Department Review: Administration  
 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Petitions for Annexation 
2. Aerial Map (related parcels and depicting city boundary) 

 

159

Item XI. 15.



160

Item XI. 15.



161

Item XI. 15.



162

Item XI. 15.



163

Item XI. 15.



164

Item XI. 15.



165

Item XI. 15.



166

Item XI. 15.



167

Item XI. 15.



168

Item XI. 15.



169

Item XI. 15.



170

Item XI. 15.



171

Item XI. 15.



172

Item XI. 15.



173

Item XI. 15.



174

Item XI. 15.



175

Item XI. 15.



176

Item XI. 15.



MCCALL RD

DASHER
DR

BRADLEYDRIVE

JENNIE
DRIVE

COOKST

WEBB RD

CO
UR

TH
OU

SE 
RD

ECBOC

389-23, 390-20, & 390-18B
NOTICE OF ANNEXATION BY CITY OF SPRINGFIELD

Effingham County Board of Commissioners Meeting March 5, 2024
                                                             

390-19TPO

390-1C

390-20A

389-22

390-20

389-23

390-18B

Springfield Public Hearing March 19, 2024

Legend
Interstate
Collector
Arterial
Local
Proposed Parcel Annexation
County Parcels
Municipal Boundary

HWY 21 S

Inset Not To Scale

Vicinity Map

q

177

Item XI. 15.



 

Staff Report 
Subject:   GOSAC/RAC Voting Delegate Form 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: 03/05//2024 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to identify a Voting Delegate for consideration of the 

three (3) remaining seats for Statewide Georgia Opioid Settlement Advisory Commission (GOSAC) 

Members and Regional Advisory Council (RAC) Members 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

Georgia is one of three states participating in the national Opioid Distributor and Janssen Settlements.  

The settlement terms require the creation of GOSAC and RAC councils to assess grant applications 

and recommend funding for the regional portion of the opioid settlement funds.  

 

Participating local governments are required to vote on three GOSAC representatives and the RAC 

members for their respective regions. Staff recommends approval. 
 

Executive Summary: 

1. Each participating local government will receive one vote as part of this process.  
2. There are six (6) regions: Effingham County will be part of the Region 5 – Regional Advisory Council 

(RAC).   
3. Each region must have at least three (3) members and as many as seven (7). The settlement 

agreement and four (4) were recommended by the Department of Behavioral Health & 
Developmental Disabilities (DBHDD) 

4. The voting delegate form is to be submitted to the ACCG no later than Friday, March 15, 2024. 
 

Background: 

A Memorandum of Understanding has been entered into between the State of Georgia and 

Participating Local Governments as part of Georgia’s participation in the national Opioid Distributor and 

Janssen Settlements.  
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. To approve to identify Chairman Wesley Corbitt as participating local government voting 
delegate for GOSAC and RAC Slate Consideration 

2. Identify another individual for consideration.  
 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  Department Review: Administration 
 

Funding Source:  Funding for advertising allocated from the Elections Office budget.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Voting Delegate Form 
 

178

Item XI. 16.



 
 
TO: Participating Local Governments to Georgia’s Opioid Distributor Settlement, including Cities, 

Counties, Sheriffs, Community Service Boards, Hospitals and Hospital Authorities, Etc. 
 
FROM:  Dave Wills, ACCG Executive Director & Larry Hanson, GMA Executive Director 
 
DATE:  February 15, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Identification of Voting Delegate for Consideration of Three Statewide Georgia Opioid 

Settlement Advisory Commission Members (GOSAC) and Regional Advisory Council (RAC) 
Members  

 
The Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Georgia and Participating Local Governments as 
part of Georgia’s participation in the national Opioid Distributor and Janssen Settlements requires the 
creation of the Georgia Opioid Settlement Advisory Commission (GOSAC) and Regional Advisory Councils 
(RACs) to assess grant applications and recommend funding for the regional portion of the opioid settlement 
funds.  As part of the settlement, Participating Local Governments are required to vote on three GOSAC 
representatives and the RAC members for their respective regions. 
 
Each Participating Local Government will receive one vote as part of this process.  This vote will be held at 
regional, in-person meetings (see the attached list), and the voting delegate must be present to cast his or her 
vote on behalf of the Participating Local Government.  The slate will be approved if the majority of the voting 
delegates present vote in favor of it.  Additional information on the regional meetings will be emailed to the 
voting delegates. 
 
Please complete and return this form no later than March 15, 2024 to ACCG Administration & Operations 
Director Beth Brown at bbrown@accg.org as a scanned email attachment or photo.  If you choose to send it 
as a photo, please make sure the information provided below is clear and easy to read.  Your prompt attention 
to this matter is greatly appreciated.   
 

 
PARTICIPATING LOCAL GOVERNMENT VOTING DELEGATE FOR GOSAC AND RAC SLATE CONSIDERATION 

 
__________________________________   __________________________________ 
Name       Title 
 
__________________________________   __________________________________ 
Participating Local Government    Email 
 
__________________________________ 
Date 
 
 

 
For questions or additional information, please contact Beth Brown at bbrown@accg.org or 770-262-5092. 

179

Item XI. 16.

mailto:bbrown@accg.org


 
 
 

REGIONAL MEETINGS 
 
 
Region 1 
March 21 @ 10 a.m.  
Dawson County Government Center/Courthouse 
BOC Assembly Room (2nd Floor) 
25 Justice Way 
Dawsonville, GA  30534 
 
Region 2 
March 25 @ 2 p.m. 
Greene County Administration Building 
1034 Silver Drive 
Greensboro, GA  30642 
 
Region 3 
March 20 @ 10 a.m. 
Rockdale County CE Steele Community Center 
1040 Oakland Avenue 
Conyers, GA  30012 
 
Region 4 
March 26 @ 2 p.m. 
Colquitt County Administration Building 
101 East Central Avenue 
Moultrie, GA  31678 
 
Region 5 
March 26 @ 10 a.m. 
Appling County Courthouse Annex  
BOC Meeting Room (2nd Floor) 
69 Tippins Street 
Baxley, GA  31513 
 
Region 6 
March 27 @ 10 a.m. 
Harris County Library 
7511 SR 116 
Hamilton, GA  31811 
 

180

Item XI. 16.



181

Item XI. 17.



182

Item XI. 17.



183

Item XI. 17.



184

Item XI. 17.



185

Item XI. 17.



186

Item XI. 17.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Theodore Carellas as agent for Effingham County Industrial Development Authority 
requests to rezone +/- 3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park. Located on 
Interstate 16. [Map# 331 Parcel# 5A, 4, 3, 13A, & 14A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing to rezone the parcels to industrial to integrate into the existing industrial park that 

currently borders it.  

 Currently, the parcels are vacant and not developed.  

 These parcels are adjacent to Interstate 16, per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances: 

Where a property line runs adjacent to federally designated interstate highways, regardless of zoning or 

proposed use, that section of the property is exempt from all buffer requirements along the property line with 

frontage on the interstate highway.  

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances – Table of Permitted Uses, the following are permitted within 

an industrial zoned parcel: 

- Veterinarians 
- Butcher Shop with Abattoir 
- Retail – Building Supply 
- Retail – General 
- Plant Gardens & Outdoor Nurseries 
- Repair Shops 
- Rural Business 
- Boat Sales & Repairs 
- Commercial EV charging stations (Wholesale) 
- Gas Stations (less than 10 pumps)  
- Clubs/Private Recreation Facilities 
- Commercial Riding Stables 
- Outdoor Amusement Parks – Temporary  
- Telecommunication Towers 
- Solid Waste Facilities/Landfills (Materials 
Recovery & Trash Transfer) 

- Government Owned EV Charging Stations 
- Bus Stations 
- Assembly or Fabrication (Not Manufacturing) 
- Manufacturing  
- Laboratories & Research Facilities 
- Metal Plating and/or Smelting (Heavy   
Industrial Only) 
- Ready-Mix Concrete Facilities (Heavy 
Industrial Only) 
- Wholesale Operations 
- Warehouse Facilities 
- Food Processing 
- Taxidermy 
- Enclosed Storage 
- Screened Storage 
- Self Storage Mini Storage Facilities  

 Industrial zoning would be consistent with the Future Land Use map for this area, as the parcels are projected 

to be industrial. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second and the motion carried unanimously.     

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park, 
with the following conditions:   

- If the parcels are to be recombined, a plat shall be approved by Development Services, and recorded, 

before the zoning effect. 

- Buffers shall be adhered to per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Article III, Section 3.4 Buffers. 

187

Item XV. 1.



2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

188

Item XV. 1.



189

Item XV. 1.



190

Item XV. 1.



191

Item XV. 1.



192

Item XV. 1.



193

Item XV. 1.



194

Item XV. 1.



195

Item XV. 1.



196

Item XV. 1.



197

Item XV. 1.



198

Item XV. 1.



199

Item XV. 1.



200

Item XV. 1.



201

Item XV. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Theodore Carellas as agent for Effingham County Industrial Development Authority 
requests to rezone +/- 3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park. Located on 
Interstate 16. [Map# 331 Parcel# 5A, 4, 3, 13A, & 14A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing to rezone the parcels to industrial to integrate into the existing industrial park that 

currently borders it.  

 Currently, the parcels are vacant and not developed.  

 These parcels are adjacent to Interstate 16, per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances: 

Where a property line runs adjacent to federally designated interstate highways, regardless of zoning or 

proposed use, that section of the property is exempt from all buffer requirements along the property line with 

frontage on the interstate highway.  

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances – Table of Permitted Uses, the following are permitted within 

an industrial zoned parcel: 

- Veterinarians 
- Butcher Shop with Abattoir 
- Retail – Building Supply 
- Retail – General 
- Plant Gardens & Outdoor Nurseries 
- Repair Shops 
- Rural Business 
- Boat Sales & Repairs 
- Commercial EV charging stations (Wholesale) 
- Gas Stations (less than 10 pumps)  
- Clubs/Private Recreation Facilities 
- Commercial Riding Stables 
- Outdoor Amusement Parks – Temporary  
- Telecommunication Towers 
- Solid Waste Facilities/Landfills (Materials 
Recovery & Trash Transfer) 

- Government Owned EV Charging Stations 
- Bus Stations 
- Assembly or Fabrication (Not Manufacturing) 
- Manufacturing  
- Laboratories & Research Facilities 
- Metal Plating and/or Smelting (Heavy   
Industrial Only) 
- Ready-Mix Concrete Facilities (Heavy 
Industrial Only) 
- Wholesale Operations 
- Warehouse Facilities 
- Food Processing 
- Taxidermy 
- Enclosed Storage 
- Screened Storage 
- Self Storage Mini Storage Facilities  

 Industrial zoning would be consistent with the Future Land Use map for this area, as the parcels are projected 

to be industrial. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second and the motion carried unanimously.     

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park, 
with the following conditions:   

- If the parcels are to be recombined, a plat shall be approved by Development Services, and recorded, 

before the zoning effect. 

- Buffers shall be adhered to per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Article III, Section 3.4 Buffers. 

202

Item XV. 2.



2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 3.97 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
203

Item XV. 2.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

331-5A, 4 ,3 ,13A, & 14A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

331-5A, 4 ,3 ,13A, & 14A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, THEODORE CARELLAS AS AGENT FOR EFFINGHAM COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT has 

filed an application to rezone three and ninety-seven hundredth (3.97) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an 

industrial park; map and parcel number 331-5A, 4 ,3, 13A, & 14A, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT three and ninety-seven hundredth (3.97) +/- acres; map and parcel number 331-5A, 4 ,3 ,13A, & 

14A, located in the 1st commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for integration into an industrial park, with the 

following conditions: 

- If the parcels are to be recombined, a plat shall be approved by Development Services, and recorded, before the zoning 

effect. 

- Buffers shall be adhered to per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Article III, Section 3.4 Buffers. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

204

Item XV. 2.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Robert McCorkle, III as agent for The Coopers requests to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. Located on Old River Road. [Map# 304 Parcel# 10] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing to rezone the parcel to industrial for warehousing and logistic use. 

 To the South and East is residentially zoned parcels and to the North is industrially zoned parcels. 

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances – Table of Permitted Uses, Warehouse Facilities are a 
permitted use within both light and heavy industrial.  

 The required buffers between industrially zoned parcels and residentially zoned parcels are 300 feet, unless 

the applicant utilizes the option of a berm, as expressed with the Effingham County Code of Ordinance, 3.4.1 

Buffers 

1. Berms, subject to the following standards if encroaching within a buffer: 

a. Minimum slope of 4:1  

b. Maximum height of the berm shall be based on the width as provided below and shall be 

reduced by six feet for every one foot of berm height: 

i. For a 25 feet high berm, the buffer requirement is reduced from a 300 feet buffer to a 

150 feet buffer. The 150 feet wide buffer includes 35 feet of natural and undisturbed 

buffer and remaining buffer is the berm. If the berm base is beyond 115 feet, the berm 

extends into the property and not the 35- foot undisturbed area. 

ii. For a 16 feet high berm, the buffer requirement is reduced from a 300 feet buffer to a 

200 feet buffer. The 200 feet wide buffer includes 35 feet of natural and undisturbed 

buffer and remaining buffer is the berm. If the berm base is beyond 165 feet, the berm 

extends into the property and not the 35- foot undisturbed area. 

iii. For a 10 feet high berm, the buffer requirement is reduced from a 300 feet buffer to a 

240 feet buffer. The 240 feet wide buffer includes 35 feet of natural and undisturbed 

buffer and remaining buffer is the berm. If the berm base is beyond 180 feet, the berm 

extends into the property and not the 35- foot undisturbed area. 

iv. The height of the berm is measured perpendicular off the nearest adjacent property 

line using the natural grade, height cannot be determined by infill grade. 

v. Major subdivisions with rear or side facing homes will install a six (6) foot tall berm 

with approved landscaping material at the apex of the berm. Minimum width of the 

berm is fifteen (15) feet at the base. 

 The Future Land Use Map has this parcel projected as transitional, with the back portion of the property in 
a conservation district. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with 
Staff recommendations and added two additional recommendations: 
- Buffers along Old River Road and any adjacent properties with different ownership shall have a berm. 
- The acreage that is being rezoned shall be subdivided.  

 Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion. It carried 4-1 with Mr. Brad Smith opposing.  
  
Alternatives  

205

Item XV. 3.



1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics, 
with the following conditions: 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required. 
- Buffers shall be adhered to per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Article III, Section 3.4 

Buffers. 
- Buffers along Old River Road and any adjacent properties with different ownership shall have a berm. 
- The acreage that is being rezoned shall be subdivided. 

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 

206

Item XV. 3.



207

Item XV. 3.



208

Item XV. 3.



209

Item XV. 3.



210

Item XV. 3.



211

Item XV. 3.



212

Item XV. 3.



213

Item XV. 3.



214

Item XV. 3.



215

Item XV. 3.



216

Item XV. 3.



217

Item XV. 3.



218

Item XV. 3.



219

Item XV. 3.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Robert McCorkle, III as agent for The Coopers requests to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. Located on Old River Road. [Map# 304 Parcel# 10] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing to rezone the parcel to industrial for warehousing and logistic use. 

 To the South and East is residentially zoned parcels and to the North is industrially zoned parcels. 

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances – Table of Permitted Uses, Warehouse Facilities are a 
permitted use within both light and heavy industrial.  

 The required buffers between industrially zoned parcels and residentially zoned parcels are 300 feet, unless 

the applicant utilizes the option of a berm, as expressed with the Effingham County Code of Ordinance, 3.4.1 

Buffers 

1. Berms, subject to the following standards if encroaching within a buffer: 

a. Minimum slope of 4:1  

b. Maximum height of the berm shall be based on the width as provided below and shall be 

reduced by six feet for every one foot of berm height: 

i. For a 25 feet high berm, the buffer requirement is reduced from a 300 feet buffer to a 

150 feet buffer. The 150 feet wide buffer includes 35 feet of natural and undisturbed 

buffer and remaining buffer is the berm. If the berm base is beyond 115 feet, the berm 

extends into the property and not the 35- foot undisturbed area. 

ii. For a 16 feet high berm, the buffer requirement is reduced from a 300 feet buffer to a 

200 feet buffer. The 200 feet wide buffer includes 35 feet of natural and undisturbed 

buffer and remaining buffer is the berm. If the berm base is beyond 165 feet, the berm 

extends into the property and not the 35- foot undisturbed area. 

iii. For a 10 feet high berm, the buffer requirement is reduced from a 300 feet buffer to a 

240 feet buffer. The 240 feet wide buffer includes 35 feet of natural and undisturbed 

buffer and remaining buffer is the berm. If the berm base is beyond 180 feet, the berm 

extends into the property and not the 35- foot undisturbed area. 

iv. The height of the berm is measured perpendicular off the nearest adjacent property 

line using the natural grade, height cannot be determined by infill grade. 

v. Major subdivisions with rear or side facing homes will install a six (6) foot tall berm 

with approved landscaping material at the apex of the berm. Minimum width of the 

berm is fifteen (15) feet at the base. 

 The Future Land Use Map has this parcel projected as transitional, with the back portion of the property in 
a conservation district. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with 
Staff recommendations and added two additional recommendations: 
- Buffers along Old River Road and any adjacent properties with different ownership shall have a berm. 
- The acreage that is being rezoned shall be subdivided.  

 Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion. It carried 4-1 with Mr. Brad Smith opposing.  
  
Alternatives  

220

Item XV. 4.



1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics, 
with the following conditions: 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required. 
- Buffers shall be adhered to per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Article III, Section 3.4 

Buffers. 
- Buffers along Old River Road and any adjacent properties with different ownership shall have a berm. 
- The acreage that is being rezoned shall be subdivided. 

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 40 of 280.5 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

221

Item XV. 4.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

304-10 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

304-10 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, ROBERT MCCORKLE, III AS AGENT FOR THE COOPERS has filed an application to rezone forty (40) +/- 

acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics; map and parcel number 304-10, located in the 1st commissioner 

district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT forty (40) +/- acres; map and parcel number 304-10, located in the 1st commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehousing and logistics, with the following conditions: 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required. 

- Buffers shall be adhered to per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Article III, Section 3.4 Buffers. 

- Buffers along Old River Road and any adjacent properties with different ownership shall have a berm. 

- The acreage that is being rezoned shall be subdivided. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

222

Item XV. 4.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Rebecca Tucker as agent for Farris Floyd requests to rezone +/- 2 of 7 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. Located on Low Ground Road. [Map# 350 Parcel# 3C] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
2 of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is subdividing the 2 acres to create a new home site.  

 Due to the 2 acres falling under that 5-acre threshold for AR-1 zoning, the new parcel must rezone to AR-2 

to be in zoning conformance.  

 The rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map which has this parcel project as 

agricultural/residential. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with 

Staff recommendations. Mr. Brad Smith second the motion and it carried unanimously.    

 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 2 of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site, with the 
following conditions: 

- A subdivision plat shall be submitted to Development Services, and recorded, before zoning will take 

effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 2 of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

 

 

223

Item XV. 5.



224

Item XV. 5.



225

Item XV. 5.



226

Item XV. 5.



227

Item XV. 5.



228

Item XV. 5.



229

Item XV. 5.



230

Item XV. 5.



231

Item XV. 5.



232

Item XV. 5.



233

Item XV. 5.



234

Item XV. 5.



235

Item XV. 5.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Rebecca Tucker as agent for Farris Floyd requests to rezone +/- 2 of 7 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. Located on Low Ground Road. [Map# 350 Parcel# 3C] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
2 of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is subdividing the 2 acres to create a new home site.  

 Due to the 2 acres falling under that 5-acre threshold for AR-1 zoning, the new parcel must rezone to AR-2 

to be in zoning conformance.  

 The rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map which has this parcel project as 

agricultural/residential. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with 

Staff recommendations. Mr. Brad Smith second the motion and it carried unanimously.    

 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 2 of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site, with the 
following conditions: 

- A subdivision plat shall be submitted to Development Services, and recorded, before zoning will take 

effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 2 of 7 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

236

Item XV. 6.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

350-3C 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

350-3C 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, REBCCA TUCKER AS AGENT FOR FARRIS FLOYD has filed an application to rezone two (2) +/- acres; 

from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site; map and parcel number 350-3C, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT two (2) +/- acres; map and parcel number 350-3C, located in the 1st commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a a new home site, with the following conditions: 

- A subdivision plat shall be submitted to Development Services, and recorded, before zoning will take effect. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

237

Item XV. 6.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: James Dasher as agent for Lain Nolan Earl Jr. requests to rezone +/- 185 acres from 
AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development. Located at 311 Earl Lain Road. [Map# 435 Parcel# 19] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
185 acres from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing an approximate 260 single family detached residential development that will be 

served by County water and sewer. 

 The proposed development is the second phase of the approved Fetzer Lakes Development that was 

approved by the Board of Commissioners on January 17, 2023. 

 This development, if approved, will be the first R-5 zoning approved for the county.  

 Per Effingham County Code of Ordinances, R-5 zoning must meet the following requirements: 

 
- Where applicable. This zoning district will only be allowed if municipal or county water and sewer service is adjacent to the 
parcel and capacity is available or a state permitted, privately owned community water and sewer system is constructed or 
available and can provide assurance of capacity. 
- Required utilities. All properties in the R-5 zoning district shall be connected to water and sewer systems. No individual septic 
systems shall be permitted. 
- Maximum density. Minimum zero point one five-acre lot, with no more than five dwelling units per net usable acre. 

Permitted uses. 
- Site-built and class A single-family detached dwellings. 

 
- Home occupations, as provided in article III, section 3.15. 

 
- Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted uses. 

 
-  Government owned utilities, except publicly owned treatment plants permitted by the state and water storage facilities in 

excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that wells, pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities shall be 
enclosed by a painted or chain link fence or wall at least six feet in height above the finished grade and provided there is 
neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises. 

 
-  Parks, recreational areas, playgrounds, public or private swimming pools. 

 
-  Planned single-family home communities with the following requirements: 

 
(a) A homeowners' association shall be established, or management company identified. Said association or company 

shall operate pursuant to subdivision covenants, which are submitted to county with the final plat. It is the intent that 
said association or company will provide oversight of the development standards and maintenance of common areas 
and amenities.1.Covenants shall include a provision that no more than 20 percent of homes in the community may be 
rented until at least 12 months has elapsed since issuance of the certificate of occupancy. 

(b) The management company overseeing rentals shall pay an occupation tax and register with the county annually, 
pursuant to article II, business and occupation tax, for a license to operate a planned single-family home community. 

(c) Walls in excess of 20 feet in length facing a street shall be broken up with entry elements, windows or wall offsets at 
least two feet deep. 

(d) A minimum of two decorative elements shall be added to the front façade including but not limited to decorative shutters, 
decorative lighting, trellises, cornices, or similar architectural elements.(e)Maximum lot coverage of 45 percent shall be 
applied per lot on which each individual single-family residence sits. 

(e) Maximum lot coverage of 45 percent shall be applied per lot on which each individual single-family residence sits. 

Lot and building requirements. 
- Area: 6,600 sq. ft (0.15 acres) 

238

Item XV. 7.



- Width: Minimum 50 feet 

- Maximum Height: 35 feet 

- Minimum front setback: 15 feet 

- Stairs (but not porches) may encroach up to five feet into front yard setback 

- Minimum side setback (interior): 7.5 feet (or 3 feet provided minimum building separation of 15 feet is maintained) 

- Minimum side setback (street): 15 feet 

- Minimum rear setback: 25 feet 

- Maximum lot coverage: 45% 

**All building setbacks shall be shown on final subdivision plat** 
 

-  Open space requirements. 

- All developments in the R-5 zoning district shall provide 15 percent of net usable area as common outdoor open space. 

Open space calculations shall be shown on the sketch plan and subdivision plat. Common outdoor open space shall mean 

areas accessible to all residents of the development. Common outdoor open space can include passive or active recreation 

areas, pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for congregating, per article II, definitions. 

(a) Common outdoor open space shall feature paths or walkable areas, landscaping, seating,  lighting and other 
amenities to make the area more functional and enjoyable for a range of users, taking into consideration potential noise 
issues due to the configuration of the site. 
(b) Ten percent of net usable area allocated as common open space shall be greenspace. The implementation of a 
conservation easement is strongly encouraged. 
(c) A homeowners association or some other entity shall be created to maintain the amenities and open space in good 
condition. 
 

- Subdivision design requirements. 

 
-  Roads and rights-of-way. 

(a) Roads in R-5 developments shall have a minimum of 60-foot right-of-way, with a minimum paved area as follows:1. 
Twenty-two-foot road pavement width is only permitted if homes have rear alley access. Signage is required indicating 
that on-street parking is prohibited.2. Twenty-eight-foot road pavement width, with parking on one side, is permitted if 
parking side is clearly delineated. Signage indicating parking side is required.3. Thirty-six-foot road pavement width, 
with parking permitted on both sides. 
(b) R-5 developments shall have curb and gutter throughout. 
(c) Streets in the R-5 developments shall have four-foot-wide sidewalks on any side of any street that contains houses. 
A tree no less than two inches dbh shall be planted at a rate of one for every two houses in the two-foot section of grass 
between the sidewalk and the curb. 
(d)If lots are platted parallel to arterial, collector, or local (if outside of existing platted subdivision) road right-of-way, 
the following is required:1.Provide minimum 20-foot landscaped strip and a residential street, with residential lot facing 
arterial, collector, or local road right-of-way.2.Provide minimum 30-foot vegetative buffer and residential lot may have 
rear yard facing arterial, collector, or local road right-of-way. 
 

-  Parking requirements. Two off street parking spaces shall be provided for each single-family dwelling. These spaces can 

be in a garage, carport, or driveway accessed from the front or rear of the parcel. One additional space per every five units 

shall be provided for overflow off-street parking. 

 
-  Development standards. The follow design elements shall be included: 

 
(a) Exterior finished material shall be constructed with a combination of clay masonry brick, natural stone including 

granite, marble, sandstone, field stone or other similar natural stone; manufactured stone including imitation field 

stone, marble terrazzo, and other similar manufactured finish stone; and wood, cement plank, fiber plank, 

traditional three coat stucco, or other materials of like appearance. 

(b) Buildings shall utilize design features from the following list, totaling at least four points, to provide visual relief 

along the front of the dwelling unit. Unless otherwise specified, features are worth one point:1.Dormers (functional 

or false);2.Gables;3.Recessed entries;4.Covered front porches, at least six feet in depth (two points);5.Pillars or 

posts;6.Two or more brick masonry pattern bond treatments;7.Side or rear loaded garage or carport (three 

points);8.Bay windows (minimum 24-inch projection);9.Multi-season porch or sunroom on rear of house (three 

points). 

(c) The garage shall not occupy more than 40 percent of the total building façade. 

(d) At least 20 percent of the wall space of the front façade shall be windows and doors. Windows shall be provided 

with trim. 
239

Item XV. 7.



(e) The minimum roof overhang shall be 12 inches, exclusive of porches and patios. 

(f) The minimum landscaping shall be as follows:1. Two large trees (one in the front yard, one in the rear yard): 

Mature size = 40 inches to 60 inches; 
 

Planted size = Two-inches cal. 
 

2.Two small trees (one in the front yard, one in the rear yard): 
Mature size = 15 inches to 40 inches; 

 
Planted size = Two-inches cal. 

 
3.Four large shrubs (near foundation; 25 percent in rear yard): 
Mature size = Five-inches to eight inches; 

 
Planted size = 30 inches. 

 
4.Eight small shrubs (near foundation; 25 percent in rear yard): 
Mature size = Two-inches to four inches; 

 
Planted size = 20 inches. 

 
-  R-5 Rezoning application requirements. Applicant shall submit the following documentation in addition to the rezoning 

application: 

 
(a) A completed R-5 development standards submittal form and checklist. 

(b) A subdivision concept plan showing the lots, road configuration, and all calculations (open space, etc.). 

(c) A timeline delineating when the development will begin and estimated time of completion. 

(d) Exhibits and descriptions of materials that clearly demonstrate the intent of the developer to meet the requirements of 

section 5.8.10, development standards. 

 

 Per the Effingham County R-5 Ordinance, there must 15% of net usable area as common outdoor open 

space. The applicant has provided over 35 acres of open space.  

 The applicant is currently working as part of the Planned Development for the first phase of this 

development to improve Earl Lain Road.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map, this parcel is projected as agriculture/residential. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.   

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 185 acres from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development, with 

the following conditions:  

- A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 

- Site Development Plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

- All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

- A Traffic Impact Assessment shall be submitted during development plan review process.  

  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 185 acres from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

240

Item XV. 7.



241

Item XV. 7.



242

Item XV. 7.



243

Item XV. 7.



244

Item XV. 7.



245

Item XV. 7.



246

Item XV. 7.



247

Item XV. 7.



248

Item XV. 7.



249

Item XV. 7.



250

Item XV. 7.



251

Item XV. 7.



252

Item XV. 7.



253

Item XV. 7.



254

Item XV. 7.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: James Dasher as agent for Lain Nolan Earl Jr. requests to rezone +/- 185 acres from 
AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development. Located at 311 Earl Lain Road. [Map# 435 Parcel# 19] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
185 acres from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing an approximate 260 single family detached residential development that will be 

served by County water and sewer. 

 The proposed development is the second phase of the approved Fetzer Lakes Development that was 

approved by the Board of Commissioners on January 17, 2023. 

 This development, if approved, will be the first R-5 zoning approved for the county.  

 Per Effingham County Code of Ordinances, R-5 zoning must meet the following requirements: 

 
- Where applicable. This zoning district will only be allowed if municipal or county water and sewer service is adjacent to the 
parcel and capacity is available or a state permitted, privately owned community water and sewer system is constructed or 
available and can provide assurance of capacity. 
- Required utilities. All properties in the R-5 zoning district shall be connected to water and sewer systems. No individual septic 
systems shall be permitted. 
- Maximum density. Minimum zero point one five-acre lot, with no more than five dwelling units per net usable acre. 

Permitted uses. 
- Site-built and class A single-family detached dwellings. 

 
- Home occupations, as provided in article III, section 3.15. 

 
- Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted uses. 

 
-  Government owned utilities, except publicly owned treatment plants permitted by the state and water storage facilities in 

excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that wells, pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities shall be 
enclosed by a painted or chain link fence or wall at least six feet in height above the finished grade and provided there is 
neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises. 

 
-  Parks, recreational areas, playgrounds, public or private swimming pools. 

 
-  Planned single-family home communities with the following requirements: 

 
(a) A homeowners' association shall be established, or management company identified. Said association or company 

shall operate pursuant to subdivision covenants, which are submitted to county with the final plat. It is the intent that 
said association or company will provide oversight of the development standards and maintenance of common areas 
and amenities.1.Covenants shall include a provision that no more than 20 percent of homes in the community may be 
rented until at least 12 months has elapsed since issuance of the certificate of occupancy. 

(b) The management company overseeing rentals shall pay an occupation tax and register with the county annually, 
pursuant to article II, business and occupation tax, for a license to operate a planned single-family home community. 

(c) Walls in excess of 20 feet in length facing a street shall be broken up with entry elements, windows or wall offsets at 
least two feet deep. 

(d) A minimum of two decorative elements shall be added to the front façade including but not limited to decorative shutters, 
decorative lighting, trellises, cornices, or similar architectural elements.(e)Maximum lot coverage of 45 percent shall be 
applied per lot on which each individual single-family residence sits. 

(e) Maximum lot coverage of 45 percent shall be applied per lot on which each individual single-family residence sits. 

Lot and building requirements. 
- Area: 6,600 sq. ft (0.15 acres) 

255

Item XV. 8.



- Width: Minimum 50 feet 

- Maximum Height: 35 feet 

- Minimum front setback: 15 feet 

- Stairs (but not porches) may encroach up to five feet into front yard setback 

- Minimum side setback (interior): 7.5 feet (or 3 feet provided minimum building separation of 15 feet is maintained) 

- Minimum side setback (street): 15 feet 

- Minimum rear setback: 25 feet 

- Maximum lot coverage: 45% 

**All building setbacks shall be shown on final subdivision plat** 
 

-  Open space requirements. 

- All developments in the R-5 zoning district shall provide 15 percent of net usable area as common outdoor open space. 

Open space calculations shall be shown on the sketch plan and subdivision plat. Common outdoor open space shall mean 

areas accessible to all residents of the development. Common outdoor open space can include passive or active recreation 

areas, pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for congregating, per article II, definitions. 

(a) Common outdoor open space shall feature paths or walkable areas, landscaping, seating,  lighting and other 
amenities to make the area more functional and enjoyable for a range of users, taking into consideration potential noise 
issues due to the configuration of the site. 
(b) Ten percent of net usable area allocated as common open space shall be greenspace. The implementation of a 
conservation easement is strongly encouraged. 
(c) A homeowners association or some other entity shall be created to maintain the amenities and open space in good 
condition. 
 

- Subdivision design requirements. 

 
-  Roads and rights-of-way. 

(a) Roads in R-5 developments shall have a minimum of 60-foot right-of-way, with a minimum paved area as follows:1. 
Twenty-two-foot road pavement width is only permitted if homes have rear alley access. Signage is required indicating 
that on-street parking is prohibited.2. Twenty-eight-foot road pavement width, with parking on one side, is permitted if 
parking side is clearly delineated. Signage indicating parking side is required.3. Thirty-six-foot road pavement width, 
with parking permitted on both sides. 
(b) R-5 developments shall have curb and gutter throughout. 
(c) Streets in the R-5 developments shall have four-foot-wide sidewalks on any side of any street that contains houses. 
A tree no less than two inches dbh shall be planted at a rate of one for every two houses in the two-foot section of grass 
between the sidewalk and the curb. 
(d)If lots are platted parallel to arterial, collector, or local (if outside of existing platted subdivision) road right-of-way, 
the following is required:1.Provide minimum 20-foot landscaped strip and a residential street, with residential lot facing 
arterial, collector, or local road right-of-way.2.Provide minimum 30-foot vegetative buffer and residential lot may have 
rear yard facing arterial, collector, or local road right-of-way. 
 

-  Parking requirements. Two off street parking spaces shall be provided for each single-family dwelling. These spaces can 

be in a garage, carport, or driveway accessed from the front or rear of the parcel. One additional space per every five units 

shall be provided for overflow off-street parking. 

 
-  Development standards. The follow design elements shall be included: 

 
(a) Exterior finished material shall be constructed with a combination of clay masonry brick, natural stone including 

granite, marble, sandstone, field stone or other similar natural stone; manufactured stone including imitation field 

stone, marble terrazzo, and other similar manufactured finish stone; and wood, cement plank, fiber plank, 

traditional three coat stucco, or other materials of like appearance. 

(b) Buildings shall utilize design features from the following list, totaling at least four points, to provide visual relief 

along the front of the dwelling unit. Unless otherwise specified, features are worth one point:1.Dormers (functional 

or false);2.Gables;3.Recessed entries;4.Covered front porches, at least six feet in depth (two points);5.Pillars or 

posts;6.Two or more brick masonry pattern bond treatments;7.Side or rear loaded garage or carport (three 

points);8.Bay windows (minimum 24-inch projection);9.Multi-season porch or sunroom on rear of house (three 

points). 

(c) The garage shall not occupy more than 40 percent of the total building façade. 

(d) At least 20 percent of the wall space of the front façade shall be windows and doors. Windows shall be provided 

with trim. 
256

Item XV. 8.



(e) The minimum roof overhang shall be 12 inches, exclusive of porches and patios. 

(f) The minimum landscaping shall be as follows:1. Two large trees (one in the front yard, one in the rear yard): 

Mature size = 40 inches to 60 inches; 
 

Planted size = Two-inches cal. 
 

2.Two small trees (one in the front yard, one in the rear yard): 
Mature size = 15 inches to 40 inches; 

 
Planted size = Two-inches cal. 

 
3.Four large shrubs (near foundation; 25 percent in rear yard): 
Mature size = Five-inches to eight inches; 

 
Planted size = 30 inches. 

 
4.Eight small shrubs (near foundation; 25 percent in rear yard): 
Mature size = Two-inches to four inches; 

 
Planted size = 20 inches. 

 
-  R-5 Rezoning application requirements. Applicant shall submit the following documentation in addition to the rezoning 

application: 

 
(a) A completed R-5 development standards submittal form and checklist. 

(b) A subdivision concept plan showing the lots, road configuration, and all calculations (open space, etc.). 

(c) A timeline delineating when the development will begin and estimated time of completion. 

(d) Exhibits and descriptions of materials that clearly demonstrate the intent of the developer to meet the requirements of 

section 5.8.10, development standards. 

 

 Per the Effingham County R-5 Ordinance, there must 15% of net usable area as common outdoor open 

space. The applicant has provided over 35 acres of open space.  

 The applicant is currently working as part of the Planned Development for the first phase of this 

development to improve Earl Lain Road.  

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map, this parcel is projected as agriculture/residential. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.   

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 185 acres from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development, with 

the following conditions:  

- A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 

- Site Development Plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

- All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

- A Traffic Impact Assessment shall be submitted during development plan review process.  

  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 185 acres from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

257

Item XV. 8.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

435-19 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

435-19 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JAMES DASHER AS AGENT FOR LAIN NOLAN EARL JR. has filed an application to rezone one hundred 

and eighty-five (185) +/- acres; from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for residential development; map and parcel number 435-19, located in the 

2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one eighty-five (185) +/- acres; map and parcel number 435-19, located in the 2nd commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to R-5 to allow for a residential development with the following conditions: 

- A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 

- Site Development Plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance and the Stormwater 

Management Local Design Manual. 

- All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

- A Traffic Impact Assessment shall be submitted during development plan review process.  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

258

Item XV. 8.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Kevin Forbes as agent for T&T Exley Properties/Thomas and Hutton Engineering Co.  
requests to rezone +/- 1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the amendment of a Planned 
Development. Located on Highway 21. [Map# 446D Parcel# 6,9,11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The original PD-MU document, approved in 2008, designates acreage in the northern most parcels as multi-

family housing to serve as a transition between industrial and residential use and provide diversity of housing 

to the County.  

 The change to the PD document was submitted for a DRI which was completed on May 10, 2023. Comments 

on the project were from the City of Savannah: “Effingham County should coordinate with City of Savannah 

since it does utilize City of Savannah water through a municipality water supply agreement.”  

 The applicant proposes to amend the PD document to remove the multi-family residential and replace it with 

industrial warehouses.  

 A similar application was withdrawn in September of 2023 from the Board of Commissioners, the applicant 

has returned with a new application and addressed the previous concerns within the PD text: 

- No rail spur will be permitted with Exley Tract North 

- No container storage will be permitted within Exley Tract North 

- The minimum height of berms, as indicated by the PD text, will be 25 feet.  

 Per the proposed PD Text: 

- Berm A shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings 2 or 3;  

- Berm B shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings constructed in the area of building 

4; 

- Berm C shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings constructed in the area of building 

5; 

- Berm D shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings constructed in the area of building 

6.  

 The applicant is proposing the maximum of 630,000 sq. ft. of Highway Commercial and 9,500,000 sq. ft. of 

Industrial. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made motion for approval with the 
following added recommendations: 
- A temporary ready-mix concrete plant may be constructed during the duration of the project, not 

permanent. 
- The berm will be simultaneously constructed with the warehouse as soon as the warehouse begins. 
- When clearing begins within the 150’ buffer area, the berm construction must begin.  

 Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  
  
 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development, with the following conditions: 

259

Item XV. 9.



- A GDOT Permit for access onto US Highway 21 will be required. 
- A Sketch Plan shall be required, per Effingham County Code of Ordinances section 5.15.5.4 
- A temporary ready-mix concrete plant may be constructed during the duration of the project, not 

permanent. 
- The berm will be simultaneously constructed with the warehouse as soon as the warehouse begins. 
- When clearing begins within the 150’ buffer area, the berm construction must begin.  

 
 

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat  3. Deed 
                           4. PD Text 5.Ownership certificate/authorization  6. Aerial photograph  

 

260

Item XV. 9.



261

Item XV. 9.



262

Item XV. 9.



263

Item XV. 9.



264

Item XV. 9.



265

Item XV. 9.



266

Item XV. 9.



267

Item XV. 9.



268

Item XV. 9.



269

Item XV. 9.



270

Item XV. 9.



271

Item XV. 9.



272

Item XV. 9.



273

Item XV. 9.



274

Item XV. 9.



275

Item XV. 9.



276

Item XV. 9.



277

Item XV. 9.



278

Item XV. 9.



279

Item XV. 9.



280

Item XV. 9.



281

Item XV. 9.



282

Item XV. 9.



283

Item XV. 9.



284

Item XV. 9.



285

Item XV. 9.



286

Item XV. 9.



287

Item XV. 9.



288

Item XV. 9.



289

Item XV. 9.



290

Item XV. 9.



291

Item XV. 9.



292

Item XV. 9.



293

Item XV. 9.



294

Item XV. 9.



295

Item XV. 9.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Kevin Forbes as agent for T&T Exley Properties/Thomas and Hutton Engineering Co.  
requests to rezone +/- 1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the amendment of a Planned 
Development. Located on Highway 21. [Map# 446D Parcel# 6,9,11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The original PD-MU document, approved in 2008, designates acreage in the northern most parcels as multi-

family housing to serve as a transition between industrial and residential use and provide diversity of housing 

to the County.  

 The change to the PD document was submitted for a DRI which was completed on May 10, 2023. Comments 

on the project were from the City of Savannah: “Effingham County should coordinate with City of Savannah 

since it does utilize City of Savannah water through a municipality water supply agreement.”  

 The applicant proposes to amend the PD document to remove the multi-family residential and replace it with 

industrial warehouses.  

 A similar application was withdrawn in September of 2023 from the Board of Commissioners, the applicant 

has returned with a new application and addressed the previous concerns within the PD text: 

- No rail spur will be permitted with Exley Tract North 

- No container storage will be permitted within Exley Tract North 

- The minimum height of berms, as indicated by the PD text, will be 25 feet.  

 Per the proposed PD Text: 

- Berm A shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings 2 or 3;  

- Berm B shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings constructed in the area of building 

4; 

- Berm C shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings constructed in the area of building 

5; 

- Berm D shall be installed and completed in connection with buildings constructed in the area of building 

6.  

 The applicant is proposing the maximum of 630,000 sq. ft. of Highway Commercial and 9,500,000 sq. ft. of 

Industrial. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made motion for approval with the 
following added recommendations: 
- A temporary ready-mix concrete plant may be constructed during the duration of the project, not 

permanent. 
- The berm will be simultaneously constructed with the warehouse as soon as the warehouse begins. 
- When clearing begins within the 150’ buffer area, the berm construction must begin.  

 Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  
  
 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development, with the following conditions: 

296

Item XV. 10.



- A GDOT Permit for access onto US Highway 21 will be required. 
- A Sketch Plan shall be required, per Effingham County Code of Ordinances section 5.15.5.4 
- A temporary ready-mix concrete plant may be constructed during the duration of the project, not 

permanent. 
- The berm will be simultaneously constructed with the warehouse as soon as the warehouse begins. 
- When clearing begins within the 150’ buffer area, the berm construction must begin.  

 
 

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 1051 acres from PD residential to PD industrial to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

297

Item XV. 10.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

466D-6.9,11 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

466D-6,9,11 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, KEVIN FORBES AS AGENT FOR T&T EXLEY PROPERTIES/ THOMAS AND HUTTON ENGINEERING 

CO. has filed an application to rezone one thousand and fifty-one (1051) +/- acres; from PD to PD o allow for the amendment of a 

planned development; map and parcel number 466D-6,9,11, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one thousand and fifty-one (1051) +/- acres; map and parcel number 466D-6,9,11, 

located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from PD to PD to allow for the amendment of a planned development, with the 

following conditions: 

- A GDOT Permit for access onto US Highway 21 will be required. 

- A Sketch Plan shall be required, per Effingham County Code of Ordinances section 5.15.5.4 

- A temporary ready-mix concrete plant may be constructed during the duration of the project, not permanent. 

- The berm will be simultaneously constructed with the warehouse as soon as the warehouse begins. 

- When clearing begins within the 150’ buffer area, the berm construction must begin.  

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

298

Item XV. 10.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Willam Schaffner requests to rezone +/- 2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
a subdivision to create new home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood Court. [Map# 398C Parcel# 11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood 
Court. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to subdivide their property to create two, one-acre parcels for their children.  

 A 60’ private access easement will be utilized for one of the parcels, as it does not have road frontage. The 

other parcel will have riad frontage. Per Effingham County Code of Ordinances, the road frontage required 

for an AR-2 parcel is 100’.  

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to AR-2 as the new parcels fall under the 5-acre threshold for AR-1. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.   

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new 
home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood Court, with the following conditions: 

- A plat must be submitted to Development Services for approval & signature, then recorded, before 

zoning takes effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new 
home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood Court. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

 

299

Item XV. 11.



300

Item XV. 11.



301

Item XV. 11.



302

Item XV. 11.



303

Item XV. 11.



304

Item XV. 11.



305

Item XV. 11.



306

Item XV. 11.



307

Item XV. 11.



308

Item XV. 11.



309

Item XV. 11.



310

Item XV. 11.



311

Item XV. 11.



312

Item XV. 11.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Willam Schaffner requests to rezone +/- 2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
a subdivision to create new home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood Court. [Map# 398C Parcel# 11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood 
Court. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to subdivide their property to create two, one-acre parcels for their children.  

 A 60’ private access easement will be utilized for one of the parcels, as it does not have road frontage. The 

other parcel will have riad frontage. Per Effingham County Code of Ordinances, the road frontage required 

for an AR-2 parcel is 100’.  

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to AR-2 as the new parcels fall under the 5-acre threshold for AR-1. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.   

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new 
home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood Court, with the following conditions: 

- A plat must be submitted to Development Services for approval & signature, then recorded, before 

zoning takes effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 2 of 8.16 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create new 
home sites. Located at 165 Briarwood Court. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 

313

Item XV. 12.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

398C-11 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

398C-11 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, WILLIAM SCHAFFNER has filed an application to rezone two (2) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 

subdivision to create new home sites; map and parcel number 398C-11, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT two (2) +/- acres; map and parcel number 398C-11, located in the 2nd t commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new home sites, with the following conditions: 

- A plat must be submitted to Development Services for approval & signature, then recorded, before zoning takes effect.  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

314

Item XV. 12.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Penny West requests to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home 
site. Located at 3768 Old Dixie Highway South. [Map# 339 Parcel# 6] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing to subdivide the property. In do so, the parcel will no longer be a conforming Ar-

1 lot and will need to be zoned AR-2.  

 This parcel is currently served by private well and septic. 

 The Future Land Use Map has this parcel projected as agriculture. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Brad Smith second the motion and it carried unanimously.   

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site, with the following 
conditions: 

- A plat must be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before zoning can take 

effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

 

 

315

Item XV. 13.



316

Item XV. 13.



317

Item XV. 13.



318

Item XV. 13.



319

Item XV. 13.



320

Item XV. 13.



321

Item XV. 13.



322

Item XV. 13.



323

Item XV. 13.



324

Item XV. 13.



325

Item XV. 13.



326

Item XV. 13.



327

Item XV. 13.



328

Item XV. 13.



329

Item XV. 13.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Penny West requests to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home 
site. Located at 3768 Old Dixie Highway South. [Map# 339 Parcel# 6] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is proposing to subdivide the property. In do so, the parcel will no longer be a conforming Ar-

1 lot and will need to be zoned AR-2.  

 This parcel is currently served by private well and septic. 

 The Future Land Use Map has this parcel projected as agriculture. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Brad Smith second the motion and it carried unanimously.   

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site, with the following 
conditions: 

- A plat must be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before zoning can take 

effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a new home site. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  
 

 

330

Item XV. 14.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

339-6 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

339-6 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, PENNY WEST has filed an application to rezone five (5) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home 

sites; map and parcel number 339-6, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five (5) +/- acres; map and parcel number 339-6, located in the 3rd commissioner district 

is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites, with the following conditions: 

- A plat must be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before zoning can take effect.  

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

331

Item XV. 14.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Samual Bradford requests to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new 
home sites. Located at 800 Savannah Towne Road. [Map# 246 Parcel# 11A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to subdivide the parcel to create home sites for his children.  

 The applicant is aware that according to the National Wetlands Inventory, there are significant wetlands on 

the property. A wetlands delineation will be needed for any building construction. 

 The Future Land Use Map does have this parcel projected as agriculture. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.     

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites, with the following 
conditions: 

- A plat must be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before zoning can take 

effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application and checklist 2. Plat   3. Deed 
                           4. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph  

 

332

Item XV. 15.



333

Item XV. 15.



334

Item XV. 15.



335

Item XV. 15.



336

Item XV. 15.



337

Item XV. 15.



338

Item XV. 15.



339

Item XV. 15.



340

Item XV. 15.



341

Item XV. 15.



342

Item XV. 15.



343

Item XV. 15.



344

Item XV. 15.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 
Item Description: Samual Bradford requests to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new 
home sites. Located at 800 Savannah Towne Road. [Map# 246 Parcel# 11A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff and Planning Board have reviewed the application and recommend approval of the request to rezone +/- 
5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  

Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to subdivide the parcel to create home sites for his children.  

 The applicant is aware that according to the National Wetlands Inventory, there are significant wetlands on 

the property. A wetlands delineation will be needed for any building construction. 

 The Future Land Use Map does have this parcel projected as agriculture. 

 At the February 13, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.     

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites, with the following 
conditions: 

- A plat must be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before zoning can take 

effect.  

2. Deny the request for to rezone +/- 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

345

Item XV. 16.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

246-11A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

246-11A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, SAMUEL BRADFORD has filed an application to rezone five (5) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 

new home sites; map and parcel number 246-11A, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 5, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 14, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 17, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five (5) +/- acres; map and parcel number 246-11A, located in the 3rd commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for new home sites, with the following conditions: 

- A plat must be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before zoning can take effect.  

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

346

Item XV. 16.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	CONSENT - ASPCA
	1. Staff Report NEW - 2021 - ASPCA
	2.  ASPCA Mutual Aid 4-4-2017

	Item IX. 2.	Firehouse Subs public safety grant application
	2024 staff report - Firehouse Subs Public Safety - Fire Rescue
	FHS_Equipment Quote
	Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation Grant Application Information

	Item IX. 3.	Ratification - Atlas Supplemental Funding
	1. Staff Report Template
	Atlas suppl request Gateway Parkway Roundabout Effingham Pkwy

	Item X. 1.	2nd Reading - Firearms
	Part II, Chapter 42, Section 42-7 - Firearms Staff Report
	Ordinance amendment Firearms_2nd Reading

	Item XI. 1.	Allen Burns Resolution
	Burns Resolution_ sr
	Allen Burns Resolution

	Item XI. 2.	Business License Ordinance
	Business License Upload

	Item XI. 3.	Sketch Plan Ordinance
	Sketch Plan Upload

	Item XI. 4.	Ordinance - Table of Permitted Uses
	TPU-Amendments-BOC-March 5 2024

	Item XI. 5.	Ordinance - SIgns
	Staff Report-Signs Amendment-03-05-24
	3.38 Signs
	Chapter 62

	Item XI. 6.	Blue Jay Study/Concept Design
	1. Staff Report Template
	Effingham County - Blue Jay Road - Corridor Study and Concept Design - Proposal

	Item XI. 7.	Courthouse Realignment Add Services
	1. Staff Report Template
	22164 McCall Road Left-Turn Lanes Addtl Srvcs Proposal 2.19.24 REVISED - ARH SIGNED

	Item XI. 8.	McWright CO
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order 3

	Item XI. 9.	Inspire Corridor Standard
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Effingham County Corridor Standards

	Item XI. 10.	Platinum CO (deduction)
	1. Staff Report Template
	4. Change Order Template
	Saddleclub Orginal Bid
	January 31 Revised Proposal for Change in Scope of Work

	Item XI. 11.	McWright LLC - Admin Building
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Draft Contract
	3. [A] McWright_Tabluation
	4. Full Tabulation

	Item XI. 12.	Raftelis Study
	1. Staff Report Template
	SOW - Effingham County GA_1.10.14

	Item XI. 13.	budget amendment - ECSO using opioid settlement funds for naloxone supplies
	Staff Report FY 2024 Budget Amendment 3-5-24
	Resolution FY 2024 budget amendments 3-5-24 meeting

	Item XI. 14.	Intergovernmental Agreement Between the City of Guyton, City of Rincon, City of Springfield and the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County for the 2023 TSPLOST Bond Distribution
	TSPLOST Bond IGA - Guyton, Rincon & Springfield Staff Report 03-05-24
	TSPLOST Bond IGA - Guyton Signed
	TSPLOST Bond IGA - Rincon Signed
	TSPLOST Bond IGA - Springfield Signed

	Item XI. 15.	City of Springfield Annexation_389-23 & 390-18B, 20
	COS Annexation sr_
	City of Springfield Annexation_389-23, 390-18B, 390-20
	Parcel 389-23_390-20_390-18B

	Item XI. 16.	GOSAC_RAC Voting Delegate Form
	Voting Delegate_ sr
	GOSAC_RAC_Voting Delegate Form

	Item XI. 17.	CIE Resolution
	CIE staff report 03052024
	Resolution to adpot CIE
	2023 FINANCIAL UPDATE
	2024-2028 CIE UPDATE

	Item XV. 1.	Theodore Carellas - Rezoning
	Carellas Staff Report
	331-5A,4,3,13A,14A_Carellas_RZ

	Item XV. 2.	Carellas - 2nd Reading
	Carellas 2nd Reading
	Theodore Carellas RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 3.	Robert McCorkle - Rezoning
	McCorkle Staff Report
	304-10_McCorkle_RZ

	Item XV. 4.	McCorkle - 2nd Reading
	McCorkle 2nd Reading
	Robert Mcorkle RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 5.	Rebecca Tucker - Rezoning
	Tucker Staff Report
	350-3C_Tucker_Rz

	Item XV. 6.	Tucker - 2nd Reading
	Tucker 2nd Reading
	Rebecca Tucker RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 7.	James Dasher - Rezoning
	Dasher Staff Report
	435-19_Dasher_RZ

	Item XV. 8.	Dasher - 2nd Reading
	Dasher 2nd Reading
	James Dasher RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 9.	Kevin Forbes - Rezoning
	Forbes Staff Report
	446D-6,9,11_T&T_RZ

	Item XV. 10.	Forbes - 2nd Reading
	Forbes 2nd Reading
	T&T Exley RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 11.	Williams Schaffner - Rezoning
	Schaffner Staff Report
	398C-11_Schaffner_RZ

	Item XV. 12.	Schaffner - 2nd Reading
	Schaffner 2nd Reading
	William Schaffner RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 13.	Penny West - Rezoning
	West Staff Report
	339-6_West_RZ

	Item XV. 14.	West - 2nd Reading
	West 2nd Reading
	Penny West RZ ZMA

	Item XV. 15.	Samuel Bradford - Rezoning
	Bradford Staff Report
	246-11A_Bradford_rz

	Item XV. 16.	Bradford - 2nd Reading
	Bradford 2nd Reading
	Samuel Bradford RZ ZMA

	Bottom

